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DUSNESS REVEW AND PROSPECT
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Presidents Statement

FUTURE PROSPECT
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The recent financial tsunami has caused an adverse ripple effect across the

financial markets and the global economy Drawing experience in dealing with

challenges in the past the Group has exercised extra prudence on managing

its trade receivables inventory and liquidity Tied up funding across the

operation level of the Group has been well planned and secured the Group in

good cash flow position

Financial tsunami has forced survival game among factories Numbers of

competitor factories closed down in the recent months and the number of

orders have been concentrated Although the economic recession has not yet

been recovered job orders and business enquiries for EMS OEM and 0DM

manufacturing services to the Group was extraordinarily busy

The Group has already started to launch Consumer Audio products to the

wholesales market in PRO As starting point to kick-off the Group has

already gained co-development project with one of the PRCs renowned

consumer electronics brand to produce broadband Wi-Fi audio and visual

product

The other orders confirmed in Consumer Audio Electronics have significant

profit improvement Most of the new models in these segment gains good

recognitions from direct customers without going through middle exporters

and the Management believes that the performance in this sector will be more

positive in the coming financial year

In telecommunication product segment after the spear-headed investment in

this development initial orders have already been confirmed and shipments

have started from the first quarter of the coming financial year Under the

request from customers the Group has already finished the renovation of

whole floor of workshop and fully equipped to cater for the upcoming orders of

this segment The Management strongly believes that the contribution from this

new segment would bring the Group to new page

In the segment of EMS just right after the reported period it is delighted

that other than those increased orders transfer from competitors of existing

customers enquiries from new customers are frequent The Group has just

finished moving whole factory equipment of new USA customer from

Shanghai to the Groups Heyuan factory site and is now conducting pre

production and qualification process The Group has confidence to have

double digit growth of turnover in the coming financial year
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In segment of the distribution of electronic components after the eforts in

development in the solution of mobile phone and audio-visual applications in

previous year the Group has gained truitful returns from new customersL At the

same time the Group has already started to negotiate with new distribuion line

trom renowned overseas manufacturers and will intake few supply lines in the

coming financial year

As the PRC starts to grant more incentives to encourage Taiwanese factories in

Fu Jian province the Group will also set up new sales office in Amoy Xiamen

in the coming quarter To enhance the penetration and network in distrIbution

the Group is looking for opportunities to acquire proper operations in the

industry as impetus of growth The Management believes that the business in

this segment in the coming year will have double digit growth

As summary the Management strongly believes that the coming financial

year will be positive year for the overall business

Employees

At 31 March 2009 the Group employed total of approximately 3500

employees 31 March 2008 6000 employees 30 September 2008 4500

employees located in Hong Kong Canada and PRC The gradual reduction in

labour force was enabled mainly by automation of production lines

The Groups remuneration policy is in line with the prevailing market practices

and is determined on the basis of performance and experience of the individual

Sales personnel are remunerated by salaries and incentives in accordance

with the achievement of their sales target General statf are offered year-end

discretionary bonuses which are based on the divisional performanpe and

individual appraisals The Group also provides Mandatory Provident Fund or

ORSO scheme and medical benefits to all Hong Kong employees Pursjant to

the terms and conditions of the share option scheme adopted by the Company

on 18 August 2005 the Group may grant share options to directors and eligible

employees Up to 31 March 2009 no shore options had been granted

The Group is committed to devoting more resources in providing internal and

external training to the employees In addition to sending staff to participate in

seminars and lectures the Group continues to recommend qualitied staff to

take part in professional courses such as the 1S09000 TS1 6949 and Six-Sigma

Quality Systems The training programs not only enhance employees career

development and professional knowledge but also contribute to upgrade the

management system of the Group

tuth 10
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
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Corporate Governance Report

BOARD OF DIRECTORS continued

oversee the processes for evaluating the adequacy of internal controls

risk management financial reporting and compliance

assume responsibility for corporate governance

The Board comprises four executive directors and three independent non-

executive directors

Regular Board meetings are held at least four times year to approve annual

and interim results and to review the business operation and the internal

iFLIiI control system of the Group Apart from these regular meetings Board

meetings are also held to approve major or special issues

Nine Board meetings were held during the year ended 31 March 2009

Members of the Board number of Board meetings held and the attendance of

each member during the year are set out as follows

Number of meetings attended/

Members of the Board Number of Board meetings held

Executive directors

Mr LAU Tak Wan President 9/9

Ms CHAN Yuen Mei Pinky Vice-president 9/9

Mr WAN Chor Fai 9/9

Mr MAK Hon Kai Stanly 9/9

Independent non-executive directors

Mr Barry John BUTTIFANT 9/9

Mr CHOI Yuk Fan 9/9

Mr LIU Ngai Wing 9/9

15 lLi iSi
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS continued

The Company has received from each independent non-executive directors an

annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules

The Company considers that all of the independent non-executive directors are

independent

Given the nature and business objectives of the Company the Board has

balance of skill and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business

of the Company List of directors and their biographical details are set out on

pages 24 to 26

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under the Code provision A.2.1 the roles of the chairman and chief executive

officer should be separated and should not be performed by the same

individual

Mr LAU Tak Wan is the Chairman of the Board and the president of the

Company In the opinion of the Board the role of the president and the chief

executive officer is the same The Board considers that the present structure

provides the Group with strong and consistent leadership and allows for

efficient and effective business planning and execution Hence the Board

believes that it is in the best interest of the shareholders of the Company that

Mr LAU Tak Wan will continue to assume the roles of the Chairman of the

Board and the president of the Company However the Company will review

the current structure as and when it becomes appropriate in the future

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Under the Code provision A.4.1 the non-executive directors should be

appointed for specific term subject to re-election and under the Code

provision A.4.2 every director including those appointed for specific term

should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years

Currently the three independent non-executive directors are not appointed for

specific term but are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the

annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the provisions of

the bye-laws of the Company and their appointment will be reviewed when

they are due for re-election



Corporate Governance Report

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

To

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations to

the Board on among other things the Companys policy and structure for the

remuneration of all directors and senior management of the Company and is

delegated by the Board with the responsibility to determine on behalf of the

Board the specific remuneration packages for all Executive directors and senior

management of the Company

Members of Remuneration Committee

No of Meeting Attended

No of Meeting

tiI

Ij

Independent non-executive directors

Mr LIU Ngai Wing Chairman

Mr CHOI Yuk Fan

Executive director

Mr LAU Tak Wan

1/1

1/1

1/1

17 7j
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established with specitic written terms ot

reference

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing and supervising the financial

reporting process and internal control system of the Group and providing

advice and recommendations to the Board

Audit Committee is also authorized to obtain outside legal or other independent

professional advice and to secure the attendance of outsiders with relevant

experience and expertise if it considers this necessary

Two Audit Committee meetings were held during the year ended 31 March

200g

fl Members of the Audit Committee number of Audit Committee meetings held

and the attendance of each member during the year are set out as follows

Number of meetings

attended/Number of

Audit Committee

Members of the Audit Committee meetings held

Members of Independent non-executive directors

Mr Barry John BUTTIFANT Cha/rman 2/2

Mr CHCI Yuk Fan 2/2

Mr LIU Ngai Wing 2/2

tt7TtTHfl During the year the Audit Committee has performed the following duties

reviewed the annual financial statements with the auditor and reviewed

the unaudited interim financial statements with recommendations to

the Board for approval

5ntv--$LoI 111 IWIM reviewed the changes in accounting standards and policies as well as

assessment of potential impacts on the Groups financial statements



Corporate Governance Report

AUDIT COMMITTEE continued

1I-

reviewed the Groups internal control system and discussed the relevant

issues including financial operational compliance controls and risk

management functions

reviewed the compliance issues with the regulatory and statutory

requirements

considered and recommended the appointment re-appointment and

approved the remuneration and terms of engagement of external

auditor

discussed with external auditor the nature and scope of the audit and

reporting obligations and

reviewed and monitored external auditors independence and objectivity

and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with

applicable standards

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

_1I
The Company did not establish Nomination Committee The duties and

functions of the Nomination Committee recommended in the Code are

performed by the Board collectively with no director being involved in fixing

his/her own terms of appointment and no independent non-executive director

being involved in assessing his own independence

DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the financial

statements of the Group and ensure that the financial statements are in

accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards

The Board also ensure the timely publication of the financial statements of the

Group

19 JJ 19 19 19
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AUDITORS REMUNERATION

Fees charged

HK$OOO

Audit services for the Group

Taxation services

Total 2342

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The directors of the Company acknowledge their responsibility for the

preparation of the financial statements of the Group for the relevant accounting

periods in accordance with statutory and regulatory requirements In preparing

the financial statements for the six months ended 30 September 2008 and

for the year ended 31 March 2009 the directors have adopted appropriate

accounting policies and applied them consistently The financial statements for

the reporting year have been prepared on going concern basis

statement by the auditor about their reporting responsibilities is set out on

pages 35 to 36 in the annual report

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for the Groups system of internal controls and is

committed to managing business risks and maintaining sound and effective

internal control system to safeguard the shareholders investment and the

Groups assets The effectiveness of the internal control system was also

discussed on an annual basis with the Audit Committee

During the year PricewaterhouseCoopers the external auditor of the Company

provided the following services to the Group and their respective fees charged

are set out as follows

Type of services

2233

109

35
36J
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INTERNAL CONTROLS continued
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The Groups internal control system encompasses its policies processes

tasks and other aspects of the Group that taken together

facilitate its effective and efficient operation by allowing it to respond

appropriately to significant business operational financial compliance

and other risks with view of achieving business objectives This

includes the safeguarding of assets from inappropriate use or from loss

and fraud and ensuring that liabilities are identified and managed

help ensure maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision

of reliable financial information for internal or external reporting and

help ensure compliance with relevant legislation and regulations and

also with internal policies with respect to the conduct of business

The internal control system is designed to provide reasonable but not absolute

assurance of no material mis-statement or loss and to manage rather than

eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and achievement of the Groups

objectives

21 21 127 12 12
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Report of the Directors

-- The Directors submit their report together with the audited financial statements

for the year ended 31 March 2009

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The company is an investment holding company Its subsidiaries are principally

engaged in the design development distribution and manufacturing of

electronic components contract electronic manufacturing services consumer

electronics manufacturing and distribution of personal computer

An analysis of the Groups turnover and contribution to operating profit by

business segment and geographical segment for the year is set out in note to

the financial statements

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated income

statement on page 37

An interim dividend of HKO.3 cent per share totalling HK$911000 was declared

on January 2009 The Board of Directors proposed final dividend of HKO.5

cent per share totalling HK$1518000 in respect of the year ended 31 March

1518000 2009

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the companys principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2009 are set

out in note 20 to the financial statements

PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note

18 18 to the financial statements

SHARE CAPITAL

Movements in share capital of the company are set out in note 33 to the

33 financial statements

WARRANTS

Movements in warrants of the company are set out in note 35 to the financial

f135 statements

L.l 22
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-j- Report of the Directors

RESERVES

i1t36
J11

The amounts and particulars of material transfers to and from reserves during

the year are set out in note 36 to the financial statements

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

83802000
thA72309000A
72309000

At 31 March 2009 the reserves of the company available for distribution

amounted to HK$92766000 2008 HK$83802000 including contributed

surplus of HK$72309000 2008 HK$72309000

DONATIONS

1700005
580000

iIi1113

i1l

The Group made charitable donations of HK$170000 2008 HK$580000

during the year

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Companys bye-laws

and there was no restriction against such right under the laws in Bermuda

which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on pro-rata basis to

existing shareholders

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

summary of the consolidated results assets and liabilities of the Group for

each of the five years ended 31 March 2009 is set out on pages 11 to 13

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2009 sales to the five largest customers of the

Group in total accounted for approximately 27% of the Groups total turnover

with the largest customer accounted for about 12% The five largest suppliers

of the Group together in total accounted for approximately 49% by value of the

Groups total purchases during the year with the largest supplier accounted for

about 35%

None of the directors their associates or any shareholder which to the

knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the companys share capital

had an interest in the major suppliers or customers noted above

23 FF
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Aix Report of the Directors

DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this report

were

Uifl
ftUfl
flll%

Executive directors

Mr LAU Tak Wan President

Ms CHAN Yuen Mei Pinky Vice-president

Mr WAN chor Fai

Mr MAK Hon Kai Stanly

4Efltit

I991M1fl

Independent non-executive directors

Mr Barry John BUTTIFANT

Mr CHOI Yuk Fan

Mr LIU Ngai Wing

Mr MAK Hon Kal Stanly and Mr Barry John BUTTIFANT retire by rotation in

accordance with clause 99 of the Companys bye-laws and being eligible offer

themselves for re-election

The terms of office of the directors including the independent non-executive

directors are subject to retirement by rotation and are eligible for re-election at

the Companys annual general meeting in accordance with the Companys bye-

laws

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive directors

flitfi7u

itl1IW

flfl
ttcn1flfltI fI

Mr LAU Tak Wan aged 59 is the founder and the President of the Group Mr

Lau graduated from Hong Kong Baptist College now known as Hong Kong

Baptist University in Sociology and has more than 20 years management

and production experience in the electronics industry Prior to founding the

Group Mr Lau had over years experience in running his own business in

the electronics industry He is responsible for the overall corporate planning

strategic development and marketing of the Group

Ms CHAN Yuen Mel Pinky aged 52 is the spouse of Mr LAU Tak Wan

Ms Chan is the Vice-president of the Group Also she is the Director of

Administration and Finance responsible for administration human resources

and finance of the Group Prior to joining the Group in 1998 Ms Chan has

over 20 years of experience in accounting and financial management and at the

same time running her own business for more than 10 years

i9 24
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I4RiflWA21LkWt BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT continued

4ifl6t Executive directors continued
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Mr WAN Chor Fai aged 51 is the CEO Manufacturing of the Group Mr

Wan graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic now known as The Hong

Kong Polytechnic University in Production and Industrial Engineering and is

responsible for the business development and manufacturing management

of the Group He has more than 20 years experience in manufacturing and

marketing Prior to joining the Group in 1987 he worked for an international

conglomerate and was in charge of the electronics division

Mr MAK Hon Kal Stanly aged 47 is the CEO Distribution of the Group

responsible for the Groups overall marketing strategy and the distribution of

electronic components Mr Mak joined the Group in 1988 He has more than

2D years experience in the sales and marketing of electronic components

Independent non-executive directors

Mr Barry John Buttifant aged 64 is an independent non-executive Director

appointed by the Group in 1994 In February 2009 Mr Buttifant joined KLC

Kennic Lui Company professional accounting firm as Principal of the

firm and managing director et KLC Transactions Limited Prior to joining KLC

Mr Buttifant was the executive director Finance of the Mission Hills Group

MHG in February 2008 but became consultant to MHG in December 2008

Mr Buttifant continues as non-executive director of Hsin Chong Construction

Group Ltd HCCG and Synergis Holdings Limited Synergis Since

December 2004 he was the managing director of Hsin Chong International

Holdings Limited controlling shareholder of HCCG which was acquired

by MHG in November 2007 and Synergis which was acquired by HCCG in

September 2008 Mr Buttifant was also an alternate director to both public

companies Mr Buttifant was an operating partner of Baring Private Equity

Asia Limited He was also the managing director of We Kee Hong Holdings

Limited We Kee Hong from 2001 to 2002 and was the Advisor to the beard

of directors of We Kee Hong from November 2002 to April 2004 Prier to

joining We Kee Hong he was the managing director of IDT International Limited

for ever eight years and had worked for Pelly Peck Group and Sime Darby

Hong Kong Limited for mere than 11 years in the capacity of finance director

and managing director He has ever 30 years of experience in corporate and

financial management Currently Mr Buttifant is an independent non-executive

director of Giordano International Limited which is publicly listed company

in Hong Kong Mr Buttifant also serves as non-executive director of Global-

Tech Advanced Innovations Inc formerly known as Global-Tech Appliances

Inc NASDAQ company and China Nepstar Chain Drugstore Limited NYSE

listed public company Mr Buttifant is fellow member of the Association

of Chartered Certitied Accountants the Hong Kong Institute of Certified

Public Accountants the Chartered Management Institute the Hong Kong

Management Association and the Hong Kong Institute of Directors

25 iS 13 51

Daiwa Associate Hodisgs Limited



Etc
ix Report of the Directors

$fltWA4Lkflka BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT continued
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Independent non-executive directors continued

LIU Ngai Wing aged 58 was appointed as an Independent Non-executive

Director of the Company in September 2004 Mr Liu holds PhD Degree in

Hotel and Tourism Management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University

Master of Science degree in Global Business trom the Chinese University of

Hong Kong Master of Science Degree in Hotel and Tourism Management

from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and Master Degree in Business

Administration from the Open University of Hong Kong He is also an Associate

Member of both the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and

the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and Fellow of

the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants Mr Liu is currently an

independent non-executive director of New Smart Energy Group Limited

He was previously an executive director of eSun Holdings Limited and an

independent non-executive director of 3D-GOLD Jewellery Holdings Limited

The above-mentioned companies are all listed in Hong Kong

Mr CHOI Vuk Fan aged 56 was awarded Bachelor of Laws Degree LLB by

University of London in 1988 and Post-graduate Certificate in Laws PCLL by

University of Hong Kong in iggi Mr Chol was the Principal of Messrs Y.F

Chol Co Solicitors from 2003 to 2005 but transferred to Messrs Ong

Chung Co Solicitors as an associate providing professional legal services

for customers of Hong Kong and foreign countries Mr Chol was admitted

as Solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong in 1993 and Solicitor of the

Supreme Court of England and Wales in 1994 Before Mr Choi took up his

legal career in 1993 he had served in the Home Affairs Department for about

13 years 1977-1990

i4$.95f7 26
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Report of the Directors

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT continued

Senior management

Mr MAN Wai Chuen aged 46 is the Company Secretary of the Company and

the head of Accounting Department of the Group He holds Master Degree in

business administration from the University of Sheffield He is fellow member

of both of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong

Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries Mr Man is also an associate member

of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants He had over 20

years company secretarial and accounting experience

DIRECTORS SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive directors has entered into service contract with the

Company and these service contracts will continue thereafter until terminated

by either party for not less than three or six months prior written notice

None of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming

annual general meeting has service contract with the Company which

is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of

compensation other than statutory compensation

DIRECTORS INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Apart from the directors service contracts noted above and the connected

transactions noted as below no other contracts of significance in relation to

the Groups business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was

party and in which director of the Company had material interest whether

directly or indirectly subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the

year

IA1Akw
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DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN

THE SHARES UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

At 31 March 2009 the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief

executives of the Company in the shares underlying shares and debentures

of the Company or any of its associated corporations within the meaning of

Part XV of the SF0 which were required pursuant to Divisions and of Part

XV of the SF0 including interests and short positions which they are taken

or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SF0 to be notified to

the Company and the Stock Exchange or which were required pursuant to

Section 352 of the SF0 to be entered in the register kept by the Company or

which were required pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions

by Directors of Listed Issuers in the Listing Rules to be notified to the

Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows

Long position in the Companys shares of HK$0.10 each

Name of directors

Unlisted Warrants

Corporate

interests Notes

Number of issued ordinary shares/

underlying shares attached to derivativesEJ
Ordinary shares in issue

/W Corporate jf

Notes interests Notes

Mr LAUTakWan 7862388 6557141 147706499 234 1142854 155406494 51.18%

Ms CF-IAN Yuen Mel Pinky 7862388 4042854 147706499 234 3657141 155406494 51.18%

Mr WAN Chor Fai

Mr Barry John BUTTIFANT

50000

500000

50000 0.016%

500000 0.17%

Personal

interests

Other

interests

Total

interests

ft
Percentage
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ix co Report of the Directors

China Capital Holdings Investment Ltd

7862388

2z I74431436 China

Capital 7B

Leading Trade Ltd Trade
Leading TradeEIi

Cyber Concept Limited Concept

Cyber

Concept

2900000 shares in the Company were jointly held by Mr Lau and Ms
Chan the spouse of Mr Lau

7862388 warrants and 74431436 shares in the Company were

beneficially owned by China Capital Holdings Investment Ltd China

Capital The issued share capital of China Capital is 60% owned by Mr

Lau and 40% owned by Ms Chan

60918396 shares in the Company were beneficially owned by Leading

Trade Ltd Leading Trade The issued share
capital of Leading Trade is

50% owned by Mr Lau and 50% owned by Ms Chan

12356667 shares in the Company were beneficially owned by Cyber

Concept Limited Cyber Concept The issued share capital of Cyber

Concept is 50% owned by Mr Lau and 50% owned by Ms Chan

Mo.ioJ1

DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN

THE SHARES UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION continued

Long position in the Companys shares of HK$0.10 each

continued

Notes

29 19 i1 ij 1%
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Ix Report of the Directors

DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN

THE SHARES UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION continued

Cosmos Wires and Connectors Manufacturing Limited

Westpac Digital Limited

Number of non-voting

deferred shares held

50000

Vastpoint Industrial Limited

l1 15 $5
Daiwa Associate H.K Limited

455000

1500000

tI
40000k

10000

745

XV785t
3521I.t

In addition each of Mr Lau and Ms Chan beneficially owns 140000

and 10000 non-voting deferred shares respectively in Cosmotec

Precision Industrial Limited

Save as disclosed above as at 31 March 2009 none of the Directors chief

executives of the Company or their associates had any interests or short

positions in any shares underlying shares or debentures of the Company or

any of its associated corporations within the meaning of Part XV of the SF0

which were required pursuant to Divisions and of Part XV of the SF0

including interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to

have taken under such provisions of the SF0 to be notified to the Company

and the Stock Exchange or which were required pursuant to Section 352 of

the SF0 to be entered in the register kept by the Company or which were

required pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors

of Listed Issuers in the Listing Rules to be notified to the Company and the

Stock Exchange

iff

Dominion International Limited 55
Shares of associated corporations of the company

Dominion International Limited which is 50% owned by Mr Lau and

50% owned by Ms Chan

Si Si Si Si Si 30
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Report of the Directors

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole

or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or

existed during the year

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

subsidiary of the Group Daiwa Distribution Ontario Inc had entered into

rental agreement in respect of office space in Canada on June 2006 with

company jointly owned by Mr Lau Tak Wan and Ms Chan Yuen Mei Pinky for

the period from June 2006 to 31 May 2011 Monthly rental paid for the office

premises is CAD15332.64

The above constituted connected transaction under the Listing Rules

The Directors are of the opinion that the above transaction was entered into

on normal commercial terms and on an arms length basis was fair and

reasonable so far as the shareholders of the Company taken as whole are

concerned

The above connected transaction constituted an exempted connected

transaction under the Listing Rules

Save as disclosed above neither the Company nor its subsidiaries had entered

into any connected transactions discioseable by the Company under the Rules

Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong

Limited the Listing Rules during the year

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

On 18 August 2005 the Company adopted new share option scheme the

New Scheme in compliance with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules which

replaced the old share option scheme the Old Scheme in force previously

The Company has not granted any options under the New Scheme and no

share options were outstanding as at 31 March 2009

2l
JTfI44tJ

Daiwa Distribution Ontario Inc

Itil

15332.6431I
4ElJ8i

17Ij
ih41L
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INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

11H flfr41T4A

lit 4141UiMXVfl2t341t
tlfli41fl5%sQ1A

LAWA

As at 31 March 2009 to the best knowledge ot the Directors the following

parties other than Directors or chief executives ot the Company had an

interest or short position in the shares underlying shares or debentures of

the Company which are required to be disclosed to the Company under the

provision of Divisions and and Part XV of the SFC or who was directly or

indirectly interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share

capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any

other member of the Group

Interests in the shares of the Company

Number of

shares held

60918396

74431436

39582198

flft
of the total

issued shares

20.06%

2L10%

13.04%

Leeding Trede Limited 50% 4141 III 414 4142

thh 4141

414141414114141 Leeding Trede Limited 14414141

4141ttjA4A114160g18396 16326888241

163268882

Chine Cspitel Holdings Investment LimitedA6O%

4141 All 414 41415111414140% 4141 114141

424141 41thL 4141414141414111141 Chins Cspitsl

Holdings lnvestmsnt Limited

4174431436 16326888241163268882

4184tA E11515% siAAll11411

A1l13361lLTftAA

Lssding Trsde Limited is 50% ownsd by Mr LAU Tek Wsn snd 50% owned by

Ms CHAN Yuen Mei Pinky Accordingly Lesding Trede Limited Mr Leu end

Ms Chen were deemed by SF0 to be interested in 60g183g6 163268882 end

163268882 sheres ot the Compsny

Chine Cspitel Holdings Investment Limited is 60% owned by Mr LAU Tek Wsn

end 40% owned by Ms CHAN Yuen Mei Pinky Accordingly Chine Cepitsl

Holdings Investment Limited Mr Leu end Ms Chen were deemed by SF0 to be

interested in 74431436 163268882 end 163268882 sheres ot the Compeny

respectively

IWE

Note

Leading Trade Limited

China Capital Holdings Investment Limited

Mr Ng Hung Sang

Interest in

underlying shares

unlisted warrants

7862388

Notes

Save as disclosed above the Company has not been notified of any other

interest representing 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company

and recorded in the register of Substantial Shareholders maintained under

Section 336 of the SF0 as at 31 March 2009

itt 51 42 42 21 32
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Report of the Directors

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and within the

knowledge of the Directors the Company has maintained sufficient public

float throughout the year under review

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

Details of the Companys corporate governance practices are set out in the

Corporate Governance Report on pages 14 to 21

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each independent non-executive director an

annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing

Rules The Company considers that all of the independent non-executive

directors are independent

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The written terms of reference which describe the authority and duties of the

Audit Committee were prepared and adopted with reference to Guide for

Effective Audit Committees published by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified

Public Accountants Audit Committee provides an important link between

the Board and the Companys auditor in matters coming within the scope

of the group audit It also reviews the effectiveness of internal audit internal

controls and risk evaluation The Committee comprises three independent non-

executive directors namely Mr Barry John BUTTIFANT Mr CHOI Yuk Fan and

Mr LIU Ngai Wing Two meetings were held during the current financial year

21ii

II1421Li

lu
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Report of the Directors

PURCHASE SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANYS LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2009 the Company purchased total of

586000 shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company on The Stock Exchange

of Hong Kong Limited all of these shares were cancelled Particulars of the

shares repurchased are as follows

Price per share

PI11 Total cost

Number of shares Lowest Highest including

Trading Month/Year repurchased price paid price paid expenses

HK$ HK$ HK$

August 2008 438000 0.375 0.450 187238

October 2008 78000 0.325 0.330 25732

December 2008 20000 0.250 0.275 5461

January 2009 50000 0.240 0.260 13019

586000 231450

Save as disclosed above neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries

purchased sold and redeemed any of the Companys listed securities during

the year ended 31 March 2009

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who

retire and being eligible offer themselves for re-appointment

On behalf of the Board

LAUTakWan

President

Hong Kong 21 July 2009
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Independent Auditors Report

/RICFWATERHOUSEeX3PERS

PricewaterhouseCoopers

22nd Floor Princes Building

Central Hong Kong

_fl
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF DAIWA ASSOCIATE HOLDINGS LIMITED

incorporated in Bermuda with limited
liability

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Daiwa Associate

Holdings Limited the Company and its subsidiaries together the Group

set out on pages 37 to 126 which comprise the consolidated and company

balance sheets as at 31 March 2009 and the consolidated income statement

the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated

cash flow statement for the year then ended and summary of significant

accounting policies and other explanatory notes

Directors responsibility for he financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true

and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance

with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong

Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of

the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance This responsibility includes designing

implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and

the true and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material

misstatement whether due to fraud or error selecting and applying appropriate

accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in

the circumstances

Auditors responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial

statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you as

body in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda

and for no other purpose We do not assume responsibility towards or accept

liability to any other person for the contents of this report

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing

issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants Those

standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial

statements are free from material misstatement
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the

amounts and disclosures in the financial statements The procedures selected

depend on the auditors judgement including the assessment of the risks

of material misstatement of the financial statements whether due to fraud

or error In making those risk assessments the auditor considers internal

control relevant to the entitys preparation and true and fair presentation of the

financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate

in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the

effectiveness of the entitys internal control An audit also includes evaluating

the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of

accounting estimates made by the directors as well as evaluating the overall

presentation of the financial statements

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide basis for our audit opinion

Opinion

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements give true and fair view of

the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2009 and

of the Groups profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared

in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong 21 July 2009



Consoidated income Statement

For the year ended 31 March 2009

2009 2008

Fi
Note HK$OOO HK$OOO

Turnover 1542134 1911025

Cost of sales 1398671 1721155

Gross profit 143463 189870

Other income 829 778

Other gains net 19436 6995

Selling and distribution expenses 26771 31488

General and administrative expenses 119667 141668

Operating profit 17290 24487

Finance costs net 10 7826 8459

Share of loss of an associated company 2519

Profit before income tax 9464 13509

ijJf Income tax expense 11 2735 5925

Profit for the year 6729 7584

Attributable to

Equity holders of the Company 14 7115 6891

Minority interests 386 693

6729 7584

Dividends 15 2429 4184

Earnings per share for profit attributable

to equity holders of the Company

during the year

Basic 16 HK2.34 cents EIj HK2.30 cents IJ

Diluted 16 HK2.34 cents 4iIj HK2.26 cents -L1J

The notes on pages 43 to 126 are an integral part of these financial statements
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

As at 31 March 2009

2009 2008

Note HK$OOO HK$000

Non-current assets

Goodwill 17 22704 28199

Property plant and equipment 18 198784 194544
Leasehold land and land use rights 19 21312 25208
Interest in jointly controlled entity 21

Interest in an associated company 22

Deferred income tax assets 32 172 1386
Available-for-sale financial assets 23 168 319

Other assets 710 710

243851 250367

Current assets

Inventories 24 205304 238574
Trade and notes receivables 25 139632 185589

Amount due from an associated company 40 14855 17637

Prepayments deposits and

other receivables 26 16885 15347

Derivative financial instruments 31 235

Cash and cash equivalents 27 124556 103388

501467 560535

Total assets 745318 810902

Equity

Capital and reserves attributable to equity

holders of the Company
Share capital 33 30364 30423
Reserves 36 353732 357340

384096 387763

Minority interests 475 881

Total equity 384571 388644

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 28 34053 45346

Deferred income tax liabilities 32 3347 5480

37400 50826

t1 Current liabilities

Borrowings 28 161788 173567
Trade payables 29 138826 161071

Accruals and other payables 30 20083 28272
Current income tax liabilities 2616 2243

Derivative financial instruments 31 34 6279

323347 371432

Total liabilities 360747 422258

Total equity and liabilities 745318 810902

Net current assets 178120 189103

Total assets less current liabilities 421971 439470

LAU Tak Wan CHAN Yuen Mel Pinky

President Vice-president

The notes on pages 43 to 126 are an integral part of these financial statements
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Balance Sheet

As at 31 March 2009

2009 2008

Note HK$OOO HK$OOO

Non-current assets

Investments in subsidiaries 20 44723 34038
Amounts due from subsidiaries 40 294442 296631

339165 330669

Current assets

Other receivables 26 114 174

Tax recoverable 24 55

Cash and cash equivalents 27 599 32

737 261

Total assets
339902 330930

Equity

Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders

of the Company
Share capital 33 30364 30423
Reserves 36 309110 300087

Total equity 339474 330510

Current liabilities

Accruals and other payables 30 428 420

Total equity and liabilities 339902 330930

Net current assetsftiabilities 309 159

Total assets less current liabilities 339474 330510

LAU Tak Wan CHAN Vuen Mci Pinky

President Vice-president

The notes on pages 43 to 126 are an integral part of these financial statements
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.irEt fL/lu Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

14

14

t4 31

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations

Interest paid

Interest received

Hong Kong profits tax paid

Mainland China enterprise income tax paid

Canadian income tax paid

Net cash generated from operating activities

Cash flows from Investing activities

Purchases of property plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property plant and

equipment and leasehold land and land use

rights

Disposal of subsidiaries

Purchase of leasehold land and land use rights

2009

HK$ 000

68235

7077
224

574

1943

764

58101

2008

HK$OOO

31974

9985
1526

1402

3049

1408

17656

Jpfi Net cash used in investing activities 10479 52944

Jb2ti Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of shares

Purchase of own shares

New bank borrowings

Repayment of bank borrowings

Payment of capital element of finance lease

obligations

Dividends paid

11764

114

536078

493900

5ibA/2J Net cash used in/generated from financing

activities 24974 43705

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 22648

LJ Cash and cash equivalents at April 103388 93432

Effect on foreign exchange 1480 1539

ME Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March

124556 103388

The notes on pages 43 to 126 are an integral part of these financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2009

Note

7a

7b

7c

28623

18144

35538

630

17492

544

230

904869

926545

1396

1672

2528

7595

8417
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2009

Attributable to equity holders

of the Company

Share 11M Minority Total

capital Reserves Total interests equity

HK$OOO HK$OOO HK$OOO HK$OOO HK$OOO

V33 WI36
Note 33 Note 36

At April 2008 30423 357340 387763 881 388644

Currency translation differences 8729 8729 20 8749

Profit/ioss for the year 7115 7115 386 6729

Revaluation deficits on available

for-sale financial assets 151 151 151

Total recognised income and

expenses for the year 1765 1765 406 2171

30423 355575 385998 475 386473

Purchase of own shares 59 171 230 230
Dividends 1672 1672 1672

59 1843 1902 1902

s-f At 31 March 2009 30364 353732 384096 475 384571

The notes on pages 43 to 126 are an integral part of these financial statements
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2009

Attributable to equity holders

of the Company

Share Minority Total

capital Reserves Total interests equity

HK$000 HK$OOO HK$OOO HK$OOO HK$OOO

W33 If36
Note 33 Note 36

At April 2007 27814 342435 370249 1187 371436

Currency translation differences 7186 7186 912 8098

lI Profit for the year 6891 6891 693 7584

Revaluation surplus/deficits

on available-for-sale financial

assets 19 19 80 61

Total recognised income and

expenses for the year 14096 14096 1525 15621

27814 356531 384345 2712 387057

Issue of shares upon exercise

of warrants 2627 9137 11764 11764

Purchase of own shares 18 96 114 114

Disposal of subsidiaries 637 637 1831 2468

Dividends 7595 7595 7595

2609 809 3418 1831 1587

--D At 31 March 2008 30423 357340 387763 881 388644

The notes on pages 43 to 126 are an integral part of these financial statements
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Notes to the Financfa Statements

31 March 2009

Court 22 Victoria

Street Hamilton HM 12 BermudaYLRtft

TTJ
$bi

tJt

Ijft

GENERAL INFORMATION

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited the Company is limited liability

company incorporated in Bermuda on February 1994 as an exempted

company under Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda The address of its

registered office is Canons Court 22 Victoria Street Hamilton HM 12

Bermuda The shares of the Company have been listed on the Main

Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 14 April

1994

The Company and its subsidiaries together the Group are principally

engaged in the design development manufacturing and distribution

of electronic components contract electronic manufacturing services

and consumer electronics and the manufacturing and distribution of

personal computer and digital products The Group operates mainly in

Hong Kong Mainland China and Canada

These financial statements are presented in thousands of Hong Kong

dollars HK$000 unless otherwise stated These financial statements

have been approved for issue by the Companys Board of Directors on

21 July 2009

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these

consolidated financial statements are set out below These policies have

been consistently applied to all the years presented unless otherwise

stated

Basic of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of Daiwa Associate

Holdings Limited have been prepared in accordance with Hong

Kong Financial Reporting Standards HKFRS issued by the

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants HKICPA
They are prepared under the historical cost convention except

that certain financial assets and financial liabilities including

derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value as

appropriate

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with

HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates

It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the

process of applying the Groups accounting policies The

area involving higher degree of judgement or complexity or

areas where assumption and estimates are significant to the

consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note
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.iE Notes to the Financial Statements

31 March 2009

Ti 1T$
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

Basic of preparation continued

The following new amendments and interpretations are

mandatory for the accounting period beginning on or after

April 2008

HKAS 39 and HKFRS Reclassification of Financial Assets

Amendments

HKIFRIC-Int 14 The Limit on Defined Benefit Asset

Minimum Funding Requirements

and their Interaction

ir

lflT Air

Ii

.44

Dawa Associate Hcdngs Lmfted

Except for the Amendments to HKAS 39 and HKFRS these

interpretations to financial statements are not relevant to the

Groups operations and consequently do not have significant

impact to the consolidated financial statements

The Amendments to HKAS 39 and HKFRS permit

reclassification of certain financial assets out of the held-for-

trading and available-for-sale categories if specified conditions

are met The related amendment to HKFRS Financial

instruments Disclosures introduces disclosure requirements

with respect to financial assets reclassified out of the held-for

trading and available-for-sale categories The amendment is

effective from July 2008 This amendment does not have any

impact on these consolidated financial statements as the Group

has not reclassified any financial assets

HKIFRIC-lnt 12 Service Concession Arrangements



iE Notes to the Financial Statements

31 March 2009

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

Basic of preparation continued

The following new standards amendments to standards and

interpretations have been issued but are not effective and have

not been early adopted by the Group

HKAS Revised Presentation of Financial

Statements1

-t$ij HKAS 23 Revised Borrowing Costs1

23 ii
ti

-jj HKAS 27 Revised Consolidated and Separate

Financial Statements2

1-

1-tjj HKAS 32 and HKAS Puttable Financial Instruments

Amendments and Obligations Arising on

Liquidation1

HKAS 39 Amendment Eligible Hedged Items2

39ftiT

HKFRS Revised First-time Adoption2

HKFRS and HKAS 27 Cost of Investments in

tiji Amendments Subsidiary Jointly Controlled

Entities or Associates1

27

iT4
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F1i Notes to the Financial Statements

31 March 2009

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

J2cD Basic of preparation continued

HKFRS Amendment Share-based Payment Vesting

Conditions and Cancellations1

HKFRS Revised Business Combinations2

HKFRS Amendment Financial Instruments Disclosures

Improving Disclosures about

J2I Financial Instruments1

HKFRS Operating Segments1

HKIFRIC-Int Embedded Derivatives5

and HKAS 39

i39t

HKIFRIC-lnt 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes3

HKIFRIC-Int 15 Agreements for the Construction

of Real Estate1

15
HKIFRIC-lnt 16 Hedges of Net Investment

in Foreign Operation4

16
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Notes to the F1nancia Statements

31 March 2009

6tI SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

Basic of preparation continued

17

HKIFRIC-lnt 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets

to Owners2

18

HKIFRIC-Int 18 Transfers of Assets from

Customers6

ftJ

LJ

Li

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 2009

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 2009

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 2008

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after October 2008

Effective for annual periods ending on or after 30 June 2009

Effective for transfer of assets from customers received on or after

July 2009

The effect that the adoption of HKFRS Revised and HKAS

27 Revised will have on the results and financial position of

the Group will depend on the incidence and timing of business

combinations occurring on or after April 2010

The directors anticipate that the adoption of other new

standards amendments and interpretations to standards will not

result in significant impact on the results and financial position

of the Group

In addition HKICPA also published number of amendments

for the existing standards under its annual improvement project

issued in October 2008 and May 2009 These amendments are

not expected to have significant financial impact on the results

and financial position of the Group
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Notes to the Financial Statements

31 March 2009
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial

statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries made up

to 31 March

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities including special purpose

entities over which the Group has the power to

govern the financial and operating policies generally

accompanying shareholding of more than one

half of the voting rights The existence and effect of

potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or

convertible are considered when assessing whether

the Group controls another entity Subsidiaries are

fully consolidated from the date on which control is

transferred to the Group They are de-consolidated from

the date that control ceases

The purchase method of accounting is used to account

for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group The

cost of an acquisition is measured at the fair value of the

assets given equity instruments issued and liabilities

incurred or assumed at the date of exchange plus costs

directly attributable to the acquisition Identifiable assets

acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed

in business combination are measured initially at their

fair values at the acquisition date irrespective of the

extent of any minority interest The excess of the cost of

acquisition over the fair value of the Groups share of the

identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill

If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of

the net assets of the subsidiary acquired the difference

is recognised directly in the consolidated income

statement

Inter-company transactions balances and unrealised

gains on transactions between group companies are

eliminated Unrealised losses are also eliminated

Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed

where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies

adopted by the Group
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Notes to the Financial Statements

31 March 2009

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

Consolidation continued

Subsidiaries continued

In the company balance sheet the investments

in subsidiaries are stated at cost less accumulated

impairment losses The results of subsidiaries are

accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends

received and receivable

ii Transactions with minority interests

The Group applies policy of treating transactions

relating to equity interests in the subsidiaries with

minority interests as transactions with parties external

to the Group Disposals to minority interests result in

gains and losses for the Group and are recorded in the

consolidated income statement Purchases from minority

interests result in goodwill being the difference between

any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired

of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary

iii Associated companies

Associated companies are all entities over which the

Group has significant influence but not control generally

accompanying shareholding of between 20% and

50% of the voting rights Investment in an associated

company is accounted for using the equity method

of accounting and is initially recognised at cost The

Groups investment in an associated company includes

goodwill identified on acquisition net of any impairment

loss

The Groups share of its associated companys post-

acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the

consolidated income statement and its share of post-

acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in

reserves The cumulative post-acquisition movements

are adjusted against the carrying amount of the

investment When the Groups share of losses in an

associated company equals or exceeds its interest

in the associated company including any long-term

interest that in substance form part of the Groups

net investment in the associated company the Group

does not recognise further losses unless it has

incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the

associated company

ii

ii

Ijw
120%-50%
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

Consolidation continued

iii Associated companies continued

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group

and its associated company are eliminated to the extent

of the Groups interests in the associated company

Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the

transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the

asset transferred Accounting policies of the associated

company have been changed where necessary to ensure

consistency with the policies adopted by the Group

iv Jointly controlled entity

jointly controlled entity is an entity established under

contractual arrangement whereby the Group and other

parties undertake an economic activity which is subject

to joint control and none of the participating parties

has unilateral control over the economic activity

In the consolidated financial statements investment

in jointly controlled entity is accounted for by the

equity method of accounting and is initially recognised

at cost The Groups share of post-acquisition profits

or losses of the jointly controlled entity is recognised

in the consolidated income statement and its share of

post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised

in reserves The cumulative post-acquisition movements

are adjusted against the carrying amount of the

investment When the Groups share of losses in

jointly controlled entity equals or exceeds its interest

in the jointly controlled entity including any long-term

interest that in substance form part of the Groups

net investment in the jointly controlled entity the Group

does not recognise further losses unless it has incurred

obligations or made payments on behalf of the jointly

controlled entity

ill

iv
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

Consolidation continued

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group

and its jointly controlled entity are eliminated to the

extent of the Groups interest in the jointly controlled

entity Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the

transactions provide evidence of an impairment of the

assets transferred Accounting policies of the jointly

controlled entity have been changed where necessary

to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the

Group

business segment is group of assets and operations

engaged in providing products or services that are subject to

risks and returns that are different from those of other business

segments geographical segment is engaged in providing

products or services within particular economic environment

that are subject to risks and returns that are different from those

of segments operating in other economic environments

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of

the Groups entities are measured using the currency of

the primary economic environment in which the entity

operates the functional currency The consolidated

financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar

HK$ which is the Companys functional and the

Groups presentation currency

ii Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the

functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing

at the dates of the transactions Foreign exchange

gains and losses resulting from the settlement of

such transactions and from the translation at year-

end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities

denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the

income statement

iv IJfiRMN iv Jointly controlled entity continued

Segment reporting
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

41
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Foreign currency translation continued

iii Group companies
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The results and financial position of all the group entities

none of which has the currency of hyperinflationary

economy that have functional currency different

from the presentation currency are translated into the

presentation currency as follows

assets and liabilities for each balance sheet

presented are translated at the closing rate at

the date of that balance sheet

ii income and expenses for each income statement

are translated at average exchange rates unless

this average is not reasonable approximation

of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing

on the transaction dates in which case income

and expenses are translated at the dates of the

transactions and

iii
all resulting exchange differences are recognised

as separate component of equity

On consolidation exchange differences arising from the

translation of the net investment in foreign operations

and of borrowings and other currency instruments

designated as hedges of such investments are taken

to shareholders equity When foreign operation is

partially disposed of or sold exchange differences

that were recorded in equity are recognised in the

consolidated income statement as part of the gain or

loss on sale

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the

acquisition of foreign entity are treated as assets

and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the

closing rate

tS
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

Leasehold land and land use rights

Leasehold land and land use rights are stated at cost less

accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses

if any Cost mainly represents consideration paid for the rights to

use the land on which various plants and buildings are situated

for period of 38 to 69 years from the date the respective right

was granted Amortisation of leasehold land and land use rights

is calculated on straight-line basis over the period of leases

Property plant and equipment other than construction-

in-progress are stated at historical cost less accumulated

depreciation and accumulated impairment losses if any

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable

to the acquisition of the items

Subsequent costs are included in the assets carrying amount or

recognised as separate asset as appropriate only when it is

probable that future economic benefits associated with the item

will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured

reliably All other repairs and maintenance are charged in the

income statement during the period in which they are incurred

Depreciation of property plant and equipment is calculated

using the straight-line or reducing balance methods to allocate

cost of each asset to their residual values over their estimated

useful lives as follows

Buildings

Plant and machinery

Leasehold improvements furniture

fixtures and equipment

Motor vehicles

Moulds and tooling

straight-line 2%

reducing balance 15%

reducing balance 10% to 33%

reducing balance 15% to 33%

reducing balance 15% to 50%

31 March 2009

Property plant and equipment

1I2%_2 Ii315%

10%33%

tIJ15%50%

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated on the same

basis as described above
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

Property plant and equipment continued

The assets residual values and useful lives are reviewed and

adjusted if appropriate at each balance sheet date An assets

carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable

amount if the assets carrying amount is greater than its

estimated recoverable amount Note 2h

Gains and losses on disposals of property plant and equipment

are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying

amount and are recognised in the income statement

Construction-in-progress represents factory premises under

construction and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment

losses if any Cost includes the costs of construction interest

charges arising from borrowings used to finance these assets

during the period of construction and other direct costs

attributable to the construction All other borrowing costs are

expensed No provision for depreciation is made on construction

in progress until such time as the relevant assets are completed

and ready for the intended use When the assets concerned are

brought into use the costs are transferred to property plant

and equipment and depreciated in accordance with the policy

as stated above

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition

over the fair value of the Groups share of the net identifiable

assets and contingent liabilities of the acquired subsidiaries at

the date of acquisition Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries

is included in intangible assets Goodwill is tested annually for

impairment and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment

losses if any Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed

Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the

carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose

of impairment testing The allocation is made to those cash-

generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are

expected to benefit from the business combination in which the

goodwill arose

31 March 2009

Goodwill
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries an associated

company jointly controlled entity and non-financial

assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life or are not yet available

for use are not subject to amortisation and are at least tested

annually for impairment Assets are reviewed for impairment

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the

carrying amount may not be recoverable An impairment loss is

recognised for the amount by which the assets carrying amount

exceeds its recoverable amount The recoverable amount is the

higher of an assets fair value less costs to sell and value in use

For the purposes of assessing impairment assets are grouped

at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable

cash flows cash-generating units Non-financial assets other

than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for

possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date

The Group classifies its financial assets into the following

categories at fair value through profit or loss loans and

receivables and available-for-sale The classification depends

on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired

Management determines the classification of its financial assets

at initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at every

reporting date

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are

financial assets held for trading or those designated

at fair value through profit or loss at inception

financial asset is classified in this category if acquired

principally for the purpose of selling in the short term

or if so designated by management Derivatives are

also categorised as held for trading unless they are

designated as hedges Assets in this category are

classified as current assets

55.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICI ES continued
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Financial Assets continued

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets

with fixed or determined payments that are not quoted

in an active market They are included in current assets

except for maturities greater than 12 months after the

balance sheet date These are classified as non-current

assets Loans and receivables include trade and notes

receivables loans and other receivables

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives

that are either designated in this category or not

classified in any of the other categories They are

included in non-current assets unless management

intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of

the balance sheet date

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised

on trade-date that is the date on which the Group commits to

purchase or sell the asset Investments are initially recognised

at fair value plus transactions costs for all financial assets not

carried at fair value through profit or loss Financial assets

carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised

at fair value and transaction costs are expensed in the income

statement Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to

receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have

been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially

all risks and rewards of ownership Available-for-sale financial

assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

are subsequently carried at fair value Loans and receivables

are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently carried

at amortised cost using effective interest method less any

provision for impairment

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss category are

presented in the income statement in the period in which they

arise Dividend income from financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss is recognised in the income statement as part of

other income when the Groups right to receive payments is

established

IEi
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

Financial Assets continued

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in

foreign currency and classified as available-for-sale are analysed

between translation differences resulting from changes in

amortised cost of the security and other changes in the carrying

amount of the security The translation differences on monetary

securities are recognised in the income statement translation

differences on non-monetary securities are recognised in

equity Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-monetary

securities are recognised in equity

When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or

impaired the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised

in equity are included in the income statement as gains and

losses from investment securities Dividends on available-for-

sale equity instruments are recognised in the income statement

as part of other income when the Groups right to receive

payments is established

The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid

prices If the market for financial asset is not active the Group

establishes fair value by using valuation techniques These

include the use of recent arms length transactions reference

to other instruments that are substantially the same discounted

cash flow analysis and option pricing models making maximum

use of market inputs and relying as little as possible on entity-

specific inputs

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there

is objective evidence that financial asset or group of financial

assets is impaired In the case of equity securities classified

as available for sale significant or prolonged decline in the

fair value of the security below its cost is considered as an

indicator that the securities are impaired If any such evidence

exists for available-for-sale financial assets the cumulative loss

which is measured as the difference between the acquisition

cost and the current fair value less any impairment loss on that

financial asset previously recognised in the income statement is

removed from equity and recognised in the income statement

Impairment losses recognised in the income statement on equity

instruments are not reversed through the income statement
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued
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Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date

derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently

remeasured at their fair values The method of recognising the

resulting gains or losses depends on whether the derivative

is designated and qualified as hedging instrument and if

so the nature of the item being hedged Since the derivative

financial instruments entered into by the Group do not

qualify for hedge accounting changes in the fair value of any

derivative instruments are recognised immediately in the income

statement

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable

value Cost is determined by using the weighted average

method The cost of finished goods and work in progress

comprises raw materials direct labour other direct costs and

related production overheads based on normal operating

capacity It excludes borrowing costs Net realisable value is

the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business

less applicable variable selling expenses

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair

value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using

the effective interest method less provision for impairment

provision for impairment of trade and other receivables is

established when there is objective evidence that the Group

will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the

original terms of receivables The amount of the provision is

the difference between the assets carrying amount and the

present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the

original effective interest rate The carrying amount of the assets

is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the

amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement within

administrative expenses When receivable is uncollectible

it is written off against the allowance account for receivables

Subsequently recoveries of amounts previously written off are

credited to the income statement

Derivative financial instruments

Inventories
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand deposits held

at call with banks and bank overdrafts Bank overdrafts are

shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance

sheet

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group

are classified according to the substance of the contractual

arrangements entered into and the definitions of financial

liability and an equity instrument Financial liabilities including

trade payables and other payables are initially measured at

fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost

using the effective interest method An equity instrument is any

contract that does not meet the definition of financial liability

and evidences residual interest in the assets of the Group

after deducting all of its liabilities

Ordinary shares are classified as equity Incremental costs net

of tax directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options

are shown in equity as deduction from the proceeds

Where any group company purchases the Companys equity

share capital the consideration paid including any directly

attributable incremental costs is transferred from retained

profits to capital redemption reserve

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value net of

transaction costs incurred Borrowings are subsequently stated

at amortised cost any difference between the proceeds net of

transaction costs and the redemption value is recognised in the

income statement over the period of the borrowings using the

effective interest method

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group

has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for

at least 12 months after the balance sheet date

31 March 2009

Financial liabilities and equity
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICI ES continued

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying

asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required

to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use All

borrowing costs are charged to the income statement in the

period in which they are incurred

Current and deferred income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis

of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the

balance sheet date in the countries where the Group and its

associated company and jointly controlled entity operate and

generate taxable income Management periodically evaluates

positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in

which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation

and establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of

amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities

Deferred income tax is recognised using the liability method on

temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets

and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting

purposes However the deferred income tax is not accounted

for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in

transaction other than business combination that at the time

of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit

or loss Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates and

laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the

balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related

deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax

liability is settled

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent

that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available

against which the temporary differences can be utilised

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences

arising on investments in subsidiaries an associated company

and jointly
controlled entity except where the timing of the

reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group

and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse

in the foreseeable future

31 March 2009
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

Employee benefits

Pension obligation

The Group participates in various defined contribution

retirement benefit plans which are available to all relevant

employees These plans are generally funded through

payments to schemes established by government or

trustee-administrated funds defined contribution

plan is pension plan under which the Group pays

contributions on mandatory contractual or voluntary

basis into separate entity The Group has no legal or

constructive obligations to pay further contributions

if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all

employees the benefits relating to employee service in

the current and prior periods

The Groups contributions to defined contribution plans

are expensed as incurred and where appropriate are

reduced by contributions forfeited by those relevant

employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully
in

the contributions

ii Bonus plan

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised

as liability when the Group has present legal or

constructive obligation as result of services rendered

by employees and reliable estimate of the obligation

can be made Liabilities of bonus plan are expected to

be settled within twelve months and are measured at the

amounts expected to be paid when they are settled

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised

when they accrue to employees provision is made

for the estimated liability for annual leave as result of

services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet

date

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave

are not recognised until the time of leave

31 March 2009

iii tUt iii Employee leave entitlements
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

IjDJ

Ij

ifl

lk7

Etj

Leases that substantially transfer to the Group all the

risks and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted

for as finance leases Finance leases are capitalised

at the inception of the lease at the lower of the fair

value of the leased assets and the present value of

the minimum lease payments Each lease payment is

allocated between the liability and finance charges so

as to achieve constant rate on the finance balance

outstanding The corresponding rental obligations net of

finance charges are includod in current and non-current

liabilities where appropriate The interest element of the

finance cost is charged to the income statement over

the lease period so as to produce constant periodic

rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability

for each period

Leases in which significant portion of the risks and

rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are

classified as operating leases Payments made under

operating leases net of any incentives received from

the lessor are charged to the income statement on

straight-line basis over the lease periods

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received

or receivable for the sale of goods and services in the ordinary

course of the Groups activities Revenue is shown net of value-

added tax returns rebates and discounts and after eliminating

sales within the Group

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue

can be reliably measured it is probable that future economic

benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been

met for each of the Groups activities as described below The

amount of revenue is not considered to be reliably measurable

until all contingencies relating to the sale have been resolved

The Group bases its estimates on historical results taking into

consideration the type of customer the type of transaction and

the specifics of each arrangement

Leases as the lessee

Finance leases

ii ItÆ ii Operating leases

lj

Revenue and income recognition
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

Revenue and income recognition continued

Sales of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when

group entity has delivered products to the customer the

customer has accepted the products and collectivity of

the related receivables is reasonably assured

ii Interest income

Interest income is recognised on time-proportion basis

using the effective interest method

iii Rental income

Rental income under operating leases is recognised on

straight-line basis over the lease periods

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Companys shareholders is

recognised as liability in the Groups financial statements

in the period in which the dividends are approved by the

Companys shareholders or directors where appropriate
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31 March 2009
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3.1 Financial risk factors

The Groups activities expose it to variety of financial risks

foreign exchange risk price risk credit risk liquidity risk and

cash flow and fair value interest-rate risk The Groups overall

risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability

of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse

effects on the Groups financial performance

Management regularly monitors the financial risks of the Group

The use of derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk

exposures is governed by the Groups policies approved by the

Board of Directors of the Company The Group would normally

enter into certain forward foreign exchange contracts to manage

its exchange risks The Group does not use derivative financial

instruments for speculative purposes

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong the Peoples

Republic of China PRC and Canada with most of

the transactions settled in United States dollar US$
HK$ Chinese Renminbi RMB and Canadian dollar

CAD Foreign exchange risk arises when future

commercial transactions or recognised assets or

liabilities are denominated in currency that is not the

entitys functional currency The Group is exposed to

foreign exchange risk from various currency exposures

primarily with respect to US$ CAD and RMB Since

HK$ is pegged to US$ management are of the opinion

that the exchange rate risk exposure arising from US$ is

insignificant

Management has policy to require group companies

to manage their foreign exchange risk against functional

currency It mainly includes managing the exposures

arise from sales and purchases made by the relevant

group companies in currencies other than their own

functional currencies The Group also manages its

foreign exchange risk by performing regular reviews

of the Groups net foreign exchange exposures and

has entered into certain foreign exchange contracts to

manage foreign exchange risks details of which have

been disclosed in note 31
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31 March 2009

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

3.1 3.1 Financial risk factors continued

Pbi.t Foreign exchange risk continued

As at 31 March 2009 the amount due from an

associated company certain of the Groups receivables

cash and bank balances and trade payables were also

denominated in foreign currencies details of which have

been disclosed in the respective notes to the financial

statements

At 31 March 2009 if HK$ had weakened/strengthened

by 5% against other foreign currencies with all other

variables held constant post-tax profit for the year

would have been approximately HK$161000 lower

/higher 2008 HK$171000 higher/lower mainly as

result of foreign exchange losses/gains 2008 gains/

losses on translation of foreign currency-denominated

financial assets and liabilities

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk

because investments held by the Group are classified

on the consolidated balance sheet as available-for-sale

As the available-for-sale financial assets are relatively

insignificant to the Group management considers that

any reasonable changes in the fair value of the available-

for-sale financial assets would not have significant

financial impact to the Group Accordingly no sensitivity

analysis is presented for the price risk

Credit risk

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit

risk The carrying amounts of cash at bank derivatives

financial instruments trade and notes receivables

deposits and other receivables amount due from an

associated company and available-for-sale financial

assets included in the consolidated balance sheet

represent the Groups maximum exposure to credit risk

in relation to its financial assets



Notes to the Financial Statements

31 March 2009

4I
3.1 MV

0$

38680003i
i126

TI

400

Itj

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

3.1 Financial risk factors continued

Credit risk continued

Substantially all of the Groups cash at bank are

deposited in major financial institutions located in Hong

Kong the PRO and Canada all derivatives financial

instruments are also entered into with these financial

institutions which management believes are of high

credit quality The Group has policy to limit the

amount of credit exposure to any financial institution and

management does not expect any losses arising from

non-performance by these counterparties

The Group also has policies in place to ensure that sale

of products are made to customers with an appropriate

credit history and the Group performs periodic credit

evaluations of its customers Normally the Group does

not require collaterals from trade debtors

As at 31 March 2008 and 2009 included in other

receivables of the Group was loan due from an

independent third party company of HK$3868000

details of which have been disclosed in Note 26 The

amount was originally scheduled to be repayable by

September 2008 whereby it was mutually agreed

between the Group and the third party to extend the

relevant terms of the agreement to 31 August 2009 The

directors have assessed the financial strength of the

third party and are of the opinion that credit risk from

non-performance by this third party is relatively low

and there is no impairment on such receivable as at 31

March 2009

The amount due from an associated company is mainly

arisen from trading transactions with the associated

company details of which are disclosed in Note 40 As

at 31 March 2009 certain of the amount due from the

associated company was overdue but not considered

to be impaired as these receivables are secured by

the assets of the associated company and continuous

settlement have been received The directors are of the

opinion that as the Group has significant influence over

the financial and operating decision of the associated

company the risk of default from the associate company

is relatively low and do not anticipate any losses arising

from non performance by the counterparty
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JJ1
3.1 N1

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

3.1 Financial risk factors continued

Credit risk continued

Management makes periodic collective assessment as

well as individual assessment on the recoverability of

trade and other receivables based on historical payment

records the length of the overdue period the financial

strength of the trade and other debtors and whether

there are any disputes with the relevant debtors The

Groups historical experience in collection of trade and

other receivables falls within the recorded allowances

and directors are of the opinion that adequate provision

for uncollectible receivables has been made in these

financial statements

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity management implies maintaining

sufficient cash and cash equivalents and the availability

of funding through an adequate amount of committed

credit facilities

The Groups primary cash requirements have been

for additions of and upgrades on property plant and

equipment settlement of borrowings payment for

trade and other payables and payment for operating

expenses The Group mainly finances its working

capital requirements through combination of internal

resources and bank borrowings as necessary

The Groups policy is to regularly monitor current and

expected liquidity requirements to ensure it maintains

sufficient cash and cash equivalents and adequate

amount of committed credit facilities to meet its liquidity

requirements in the short and long term

The table below analyses the Groups financial liabilities

and net-settled derivative financial liabilities into relevant

maturity groupings based on the remaining period at

the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date

The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual

undiscounted cash flow based on the earliest date on

which the Group can be required to pay

31 March 2009

Uk

rnmTii
ij
ijijjj7ft
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Within year

HK$000

Between

and years

HK$OOO

31 March 2009

Between

and years

HK$000

jiEE-
1o1

Group

At 31 March 2009

Borrowings

Trade payables

Accruals and other payables

Derivative financial instruments

At 31 March 2008

Borrowings

Trade payables

Accruals and other payables

Derivative financial instruments

165353

138826

18102

34

176364

161071

26781

2484

35309

31446

3795

17146

ffi

fXI428

ij 50fri
291000VA
/293oooljIj

All the Companys financial liabilities are due for

settlement contractually within 12 months

Cash flow and fair value interest-rate risk

The Groups income and operating cash flows are

substantially independent of changes in market interest

rates The Group has no significant interest-bearing

assets except for the cash at bank details of which

are disclosed in note 27 The Groups exposure to

changes in interest rates is mainly attributable to its

bank borrowings details of which are disclosed in note

28 Borrowings carry at floating rates expose the Group

to cash flow interest rate risk whereas those carry at

fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate

risk The Group has not used any interest rate swaps to

hedge its exposure to interest rate risk

As at 31 March 2009 if the interest rates on borrowings

had been 50 basis points higher/lower with all other

variables held constant post-tax profit for the year

would have been HK$291000 2008 HK$293000

lower/higher mainly as result of higher/lower interest

expense on floating rate borrowings

N1
3.1

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

3.1 Financial risk factors continued

Liquidity risk continued

Damia Associate Holdmgs Limited
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31 March 2009

3.2

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

f$ftJI

ij

The carrying amounts of the Groups current financial

assets including cash and cash equivalents trade and notes

receivables amount due from an associated company and

deposits and other receivables and the Groups current

financial liabilities including trade payables accruals and other

payables and current borrowings approximate their fair values

due to their short maturities

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets

such as publicly traded derivatives and available-for-sale

securities is based on quoted market prices at the balance

sheet date The quoted market price used for financial assets

held by the Group is the current bid price the appropriate

quoted market price for financial liabilities is the current ask

price

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in

an active market for example over-the-counter derivatives is

determined by using valuation techniques The Group uses

variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on

market conditions existing at each balance sheet date Quoted

market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are

used for long-term debt Other techniques such as estimated

discounted cash flows are used to determine fair value for the

remaining financial instruments The fair value of forward foreign

exchange contracts is determined with reference to quoted

forward exchange rates at the balance sheet date

The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of financial

assets and liabilities with maturity of less than one year

are assumed to approximate their fair values The fair value

of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by

discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current

market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar

financial instruments

3.2 Fair value estimation
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31 March 2009

3.3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Ie ft

The Groups objectives when managing capital are to safeguard

the Groups ability to continue as going concern in order

to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other

stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to

reduce the cost of capital

The Group manages the capital structure and make adjustments

to it in the light of changes in economic conditions In order

to maintain or adjust the capital structure the Group may

adjust the dividend payments to shareholders return capital

to shareholders issue new shares or to obtain new bank

borrowings

The Group also monitors capital on the basis of the gearing

ratio This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital

Net debt is calculated as total borrowings include current and

non-current borrowings as shown in the consolidated balance

sheet less cash and cash equivalents Total capital is calculated

as equity as shown in the consolidated balance sheet plus

net debt

The table below analyses the Groups capital structure as at 31

March 2009 and 2008

iA1üWI28 Total borrowings Note 28

Less Cash and cash equivalents Note 27

195841

124556

218913

103388

331 645000

2826700005AL
231 614000A5LTi

238802000ALEAA

3.3 Capital risk management

2009

HK$OOO

2008

HK$OOO

Ai

Aft

Net debt

Total equity

Total capital

Gearing ratio

71285

384571

455856

115525

388644

504169

31 70
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16% 23%

The decrease in gearing ratio during 2008/2009 was mainly resulted

from the decrease in total borrowings during the year

As at 31 March 2009 the total banking facilities made available to

the Group amounting to approximately HK$331645000 2008
HK$282670000 of which approximately HK$231614000 2008
HK$238802000 was utilised by the Group



7t iE Notes to the Financial Statements

31 March 2009

IiBE
Ij

117 ij

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENT

Estimates and judgement used in preparing financial statements are

continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other

factors including expectations of future events that are believed to be

reasonable under the circumstances

The resulting accounting estimates will by definition seldom equal

the related actual results The estimates and assumptions that have

significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed

below

Useful lives residual values and depreciation of property

plant and equipment

The Groups management determines the estimated useful lives

residual values and related depreciation charges for its property

plant and equipment other than construction-in-progress with

reference to the estimated periods that the Group intends to

derive future economic benefits from use of these assets This

estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual

useful lives of property plant and equipment of similar nature

and functions Management will revise the depreciation charge

where useful lives or residual values are different to previously

estimated or it will write-off or write-down technically obsolete

or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold

Actual economic lives may differ from estimated useful lives and

actual residual values may differ from estimated residual values

Periodic review could result in change in depreciable lives and

residual values and therefore depreciation expense in the future

periods

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group tests at least annually whether goodwill has suffered

any impairment Note 17 Other non-financial assets including

property plant and equipment and leasehold land and land use

rights are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes

in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be

recoverable The recoverable amounts have been determined

based on value-in-use calculations or fair value less costs to

sell These calculations require the use of judgements and

estimates
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENT continued

iiJ
iii tIi

11
Th

WI
nhj

Management judgement is required in the area of asset

impairment particularly in assessing whether an event has

occurred that may indicate that the related asset values may

not be recoverable ii whether the carrying value of an asset

can be supported by the recoverable amount being the higher

of fair value less costs to sell and net present value of future

cash flows which are estimated based upon the continued

use of the asset in the business and it the appropriate key

assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow projections

including whether these cash flow projections are discounted

using an appropriate rate Changing the assumptions selected

by management in assessing impairment including the

discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow

projections could materially affect the net present value used in

the impairment test and as result affect the Groups financial

position and results of operations If there is significant

adverse change in the projected performance and resulting

future cash flow projections it may be necessary to take an

impairment charge to the income statement

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price

in the ordinary course of business less estimated costs of

completion and selling expenses These estimates are based

on the current market condition and the historical experience

of manufacturing and selling products of similar nature It could

change significantly as result of changes in customer taste

and competitor actions in response to severe industry cycle

Management reassesses these estimates at each balance sheet

date

The Groups management determines the provision for

impairment of trade and notes receivables other receivables

and amount due from an associated company based on

an assessment of the recoverability of the receivables The

assessment is based on the credit history of its customers and

other debtors and the current market condition and requires

the use of judgements and estimates Management reassesses

the provision at each balance sheet date

Impairment of non-financial assets continued

Net realisable value of inventories

Impairment of receivables
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENT continued

Fair value of derivative financial instruments

The fair value of derivative financial instruments which are not

traded in an active market is determined by using valuation

techniques The Group uses its judgement to select an

appropriate valuation method and makes assumptions that

are mainly based on market conditions existing at the balance

sheet date The valuation models require the input of subjective

assumptions including forward foreign exchange rates risk

free rates and market volatility Changes in subjective input

assumptions can materiality affect the fair value estimate

Current and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions

Judgement is required in determining the provision for income

taxes in each of these jurisdictions There are transactions and

calculations during the ordinary course of business for which

the ultimate tax determination is uncertain Where the final tax

outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that

were initially recorded such differences will impact the income

tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such

determination is made

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary

differences and tax losses are recognised when management

considers it is probable that future taxable profits will be

available against which the temporary differences or tax losses

can be utilised When the expectation is different from the

original estimates such differences will impact the recognition

of deferred income tax assets and taxation charges in the

period in which such estimates is changed

Turnover

Sales of goods

Groupjt
2009

HK$OOO

1542134

2008

HK$OOO

1911025

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
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31 March 2009

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
continued

l6 Primary reporting format business segments

At 31 March 2009 the Group is organised into three mainjPP
tz2J P1 mW/ business segments

Electronic components distribution and manufacturing

Electronic Components

ii Contract electronic manufacturing services and

consumer electronics manufacturing EMS and

Consumer Electronics and

Hi Hi Personal computers distributionPC

EMS and Consumer

Electronic Components Electronics PC Eliminations Group

fl jr 1A ii
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

20
HK$OOO HK$000 HK$OOO HK$000 HK$OOO HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$OOO HK$000

Turnover

External sales 911887 800649 321898 629019 308349 481357

Inter-segment sales 1680 1251 4257 5937 1251

913567 801900 326155 629019 308349 481357 5937 1251 1542134 1911025

Segment results 18470 23196 2067 7641 2529 7476 18932 38313

Unallocated income 11817 6063

Unallocated
expenses

13235 18363

Finance costs 8050 9985

Share of loss of an

associated company
2519

Income tax expense
2735 5925

Profit for the
year

6729 7584

Inter-segment sales are accounted for at mutually agreed prices

and eliminated on consolidation

Ti 131 14141414 74
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31 March 2009

330421 364845 317826 321927 70504 96044 718751 782818

26567 28086

745318 810902

1i Segment liabilities comprise operating liabilities and exclude

items such as current income tax liabilities deferred income tax

liabilities corporate liabilities and corporate borrowings

Capital expenditure comprises additions to property plant and

equipment and leasehold land and land use rights

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
continued

Primary reporting format business segments continued

I4

Assets

Segment assets

Unallocated assets

-iIfl
LL5t EMS and

Electronic Components Consumer Electronics PC Group

jL .A iL .A iL ii
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

2C
HK$OOO HK$000 HK$OOO HK$000 HK$OOO HK$000 HK$OOO HK$000

sic

as

Total assets

Liabilities

Segment liabilities

Unallocated liabilities

Total liabilities

Other intormatinn

Capital expenditure

Depreciation and amortisation

Write-down of inventories

Impairment of trade receivables

105456 98194 27724 53359 24119 36939 157299 188492

203448 233766

360747 422258

2397 5905 21838 37123 517 5t9 24752 43547

5207 5348 12263 12080 406 338 17876 17766

3233 6220 3285 6518 6220

1433 t165 280 696 533 2409 1698

Segment assets consist primarily of goodwill property plant

and equipment leasehold land and land use rights inventories

receivables and operating cash and mainly exclude investments

and certain corporate assets
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k4I TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
continued

Secondary reporting format geographical segments

The Groups three business segments operate in four main

geographical locations The following table provides an analysis

of the Groups turnover capital expenditure and total assets by

geographical locations

Turnover Capital expenditure Total assets

-1
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

HK$OOO HK$000 HK$OOO HK$OOO HK$OOO HK$000

Hong Kong and

Mainland China 893885 791114 24235 43027 674814 745974

North America 418827 593389 517 520 70504 64928

Europe 193203 175313

92l Japan 16484 326573

Other Asian countries 19735 24636

1542134 1911025 24752 43547 745318 810902

Turnover is allocated based on the location of customers

Capital expenditures and total assets are allocated based on the

location of those assets

1tX OTHER INCOME

2009 2008

HK$OOO HK$000

flA Rental income 499 753

Others 330 25

829 778

The direct outgoing in respect of the rental income is HK$58000 2008

9600055 HK$96000

fi7 54 76
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31 March 2009

IN/

OTHER GAINS NET

19436 6995

1-J EXPENSES BY NATURE

1i

IIj

If

Changes in inventories of trading merchandise

finished goods and work-in-progress

Trading merchandise raw materials and

consumables used

Auditors remuneration

Amortisation of leasehold land and land use rights

Depreciation

owned property plant and equipment

property plant and equipment held under

finance leases

Employment benefit expenses including directors

emoluments Note

Impairment of trade receivables included in general

and administrative expenses

Write-down of inventories

Operating lease rental in respect of land and

buildings

Travelling and office expenses

Transportation expenses

Advertising costs

Repair and maintenance expenses

Other expenses

Representing

Cost of Sales

Selling and distribution expenses

General and administrative expenses

2009 2008

cj71

HK$OOO HK$OOO

20688 8551

1287760 1614300

2233 2380

595 649

17006 16267

275 850

137132

2409

6518

6955

18476

6980

1019

3219
33844

1545109 1894311

1545109 1894311

2009

HK$OOO

2008

HK$OOO

Gain on disposal of property plant and equipment

and leasehold land and land use rights

Fair value gain/loss on derivative financial

instruments

Net exchange gains

11805 25

6480 2990

1151 9960

166226

1698

6220

6972

21400

10336

944

4517

33001

1398671

26771

119667

1721155

31488

141668
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31 March 2009

iurt EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES

Employment benefit expenses including directors emoluments

consisted of

Ij

Wages salaries and allowances

Bonuses

Pension costs defined contribution plans

Welfare and benefits

121142

3782

1147

11061

145519

3943

2269

14495

10 10 FINANCE COSTS NET

137132

2009

HK$OOO

166226

2008

HK$OOO

ijJA Interest income from bank deposits 224 1526

Interest expense on bank loans wholly repayable

within five years

Interest element of finance leases

Others

9818

167

11 UH
Finance costs net

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

8050

7826

9985

8459

116.5%A
ft4

25%33%
35%

35%

31

Daiwa Associate Holdftigs Limited

The Company is exempted from taxation in Bermuda Hong Kong

profits tax has been provided for at the rate of 16.5% 2008 17.5%

on the estimated assessable profits arising in or derived from Hong

Kong Companies established and operated in Mainland China are

subject to PRO corporate income tax at the rate of 25% 2008 25% to

33% Companies established and operated in Canada are subject to

Canadian income tax at the rate of 35% 2008 35%

2009

HK$OOO

2008

HK$ 000

6923
154

973

78
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11 11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE continued

2009 2008

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Current taxation

Hong Kong profits tax 762 014

PAC corporate income tax 1259 985

Canada income tax 633 1548

Deferred taxation relating to the origination and

reversal of temporary differences Note 32 919 378

2735 5925

The taxation on the Groups profit before income tax differs from the

theoretical amount that would arise using the Hong Kong profits tax

rate as follows

2009 2008

71
HK$OOO HK$OOO

Profit before income tax 9464 13509

Add Share of loss of an associated company 2519

9464 16028

J16 5%- Calculation at taxation rate of 165%

175% 2008 17.5% 1562 2805

Effect of different tax rates 1241 307

Income not subject to tax 605 968

Expenses not deductible for tax 2287 801

Tax losses not recognised 4623 783

Effect of change in tax rate 210
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses 765
Withholding tax 196

Others 112 197

Taxation charge 735 925

79 71 Sr
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12 12 DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENTS
EMOLUMENTS

Directors emoluments

The remuneration of each of the directors of the Company for

the year ended 31 March 2009 is set out below

Contribution

Mt1 to retirement

Salaries and Discretionary benefit

Name of Director Fees allowances bonuses scheme Total

2l
HK$OOO IIK$OOO HK$OOO HK$OOO HK$OOO

Executive directors

Mr LAU Tak Wan 3209 370 162 3741

Ms CHAN Yuen Mel Pinky 1098 106 55 1259

Mr WAN Chor Fai 1238 112 52 1402

Mr MAK Hon Kai Stanly 1258 635 63 1956

TI1 Independent non-executive directors

Mr
Barry

John BUTTIFANT 100 100

Mr UU Ngai Wing 75 75

Mr CHOI Yuk Fan 50 50

225 6803 1223 332 8583

ii fT 1W 1W 1W 1W 80
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31 March 2009

12 12 DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENTS
EMOLUMENTS continued

225 6901 307 7433

No director waived any emoluments during the year 2008 Nil

No emolument was paid to any directors as inducement to join

or as compensation for loss of office during the year 2008 Nil

No director has been granted or exercised any share option

during the year 2008 Nil

Name of Direcfor

Directors emoluments continued

The remuneration of each of the directors of the Company for

the year ended 31 March 2008 is set out below

Discretionary

bonuses

HK$000

Contribution

to ref irement

benefit

scheme

HK$000

135

56

53

63

Executive direcfors

Mr LAU Tak Wan

Ms CHAN Yuen Mel Pinky

Mr WAN Chor Fai

Mr MAK Hon Kai Stanly

Independent nonexecutive directors

Mr Barry John BUTTIFANT

Mr LIU Ngai Wing

Mr CHOI Yuk Fan

Salaries and

Fees allowances

yr
HK$000 HK$000

2970

1201

1365

1365

100

75

50

Total

HK$000

3105

1257

1418

1428

100

75

50

81 Jt
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12

zA
12 DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENTS

EMOLUMENTS continued

Five highest paid individuals

flAt5$
ATfl

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the

Group for the year include four 2008 four directors whose

emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above The

emoluments paid and payable to the remaining one 2008 one

individual are as follows

Basic salaries and allowances

Discretionary bonus

Pension scheme contribution

923

The emoluments fell within the following band

836

Number of individual

2009 2008

1000000

13

Nil HK$1000000

During the year no emolument was paid to the five highest

paid individuals including directors and other employees as

inducement to join or as compensation for loss of office 2008

Nil

13 PENSION SCHEMES

Hong Kong

I1 lj 2Ij
The Group has two defined contribution pension schemes the

retirement scheme organised under the Hong Kong Occupation

Retirement Schemes Ordinance ORSO Scheme and the Mandatory

Provident Fund Scheme MPF Scheme for its employees in Hong

Kong The assets of the ORSO Scheme and the MPF Scheme are held

separately from those of the Group under independently administered

funds

2009

HK$OOO

2008

77
HK$ 000

841 741

70 83

12 12

t4 IT IT ITt 82
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13 1ki

2j
iic

57o0o
49000

$11 -Ij

to0o
jiff .$PR

jnc

IJCPPn
4.95%

2760O0ffi4490OtA
343O0051449OOJA

13 PENSION SCHEMES continued

Hong Kong continued

Under the ORSO Scheme the Group and each of its employees

make monthly contribution to the scheme of approximately 5% and

5% respectively of the employees salary The unvested benefits of

employees who have terminated employment are utilised by the Group

to reduce its future contributions The unvested benefits so utilised

under the scheme during the year ended 31 March 2009 amounted to

HK$Nil 2008 HK$Nil and the amount of unvested benefits as at 31

March 2009 that are available to reduce the Groups future contributions

was approximately HK$57000 2008 HK$49000

Under the MPF Scheme each of the Group and its employees

makes monthly contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees

relevant income as defined in the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme

Ordinance Both the Groups and the employees contributions are

subjected to cap of HK$1000 per month and thereafter contributions

are voluntary The contributions are fully and immediately vested in the

employees

Mainland China

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China the Group

contributes to state-sponsored retirement plans for its relevant

employees in Mainland China The Groups relevant employees make

monthly contributions to the plans at approximately 5% of the relevant

income comprising salaries allowances and bonus while the Group

makes monthly contributions at approximately to 10% of such

relevant income and has no further obligations for the actual payment of

post-retirement benefits beyond its contribution The state-sponsored

retirement plans are responsible for the entire post-retirement benefits

payable to retired employees

Canada

The Group is required to make monthly contribution to the Canada

Pension Plan CPP in respect of its employees in Canada based

on the relevant employees salaries with the exceptions of certain

excluded employment and benefits at rate of 4.95% 2008 4.95%

of the employees salaries subject to maximum annual pensionable

earnings of 276000 equivalent to CAD44900 2008 HK$343000

equivalent to CAD44900

83 1f3 i3 iT iT Ti 5i Ti iT Ti 81
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14 2J1O
lj145000

iW iW

.55W /W/O

0.25l4

17iO

Final proposed of HKO.5 cents 2008 HKO.25

cents per share note 10

1518 761

Notes

2429 4184

H--ft
if.$691l000

$V43038000J

ii $6ftfLh
It1.5fW

-AH-81

25666667t23i1
0.400.50

iii
6fLL

itt

ta1it tj t1ttit

At meeting held on 27 November 2008 the Companys directors

declared an interim dividend of HKO.3 cents per share totalling

HK$911000 which was paid on January 2009

In December 2007 the Companys directors declared an interim dividend

of HK1 cent per share totalling HK$3038000 which was paid on

January 2008

At meeting held on 27 July 2007 the Companys directors proposed

final dividend of HK1.5 cents per share for the year ended 31 March

2007 All qualifying shareholders as of 24 August 2007 will be entitled to

these dividends During the period from 27 July 2007 to 24 August 2007

25666667 warrants were utilised to subscribe for 25666667 shares of

the Company at subscription price
of HK$0.40 to HK$0.50 per share

Consequently an additional dividend of HK$385000 was paid during

the year as part of the final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2007

it At meeting held on 21 July 2009 the Companys directors proposed

final dividend of HKO.5 cents per share This proposed dividend is not

reflected as dividend payable in these financial statements and will be

reflected as an appropriation of retained profits for the year ending 31

March 2010

15

14 PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The profit attributable to equity holders of the Company is dealt

with in the financial statements of the Company to the extent of

HK$10866000 2008 HK$145000

15 DIVIDENDS

Interim paid of HKO.3 cents 2008 HK1 cent per

share note

2007 Final paid of HK1.5 cents per share note

2009

HK$OOO

2008

HK$OOO

911 3038

385

IN

Daiwa Assocwte Ho dLngs Lmited
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16 16 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit

attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted

average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year

Ij

Profit attributable to equity holders of the

Company HK$ooo

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in

issue 000

Basic earnings per share HK cents per share

7115

303895

2.34

6891

299149

2.30

Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the

weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to

assume conversion of all the Companys outstanding warrants

calculation is done to determine the number of shares that

could have been acquired at fair value determined as the

average annual market share price of the Companys shares

based on the monetary value of the subscription rights attached

to outstanding warrants The number of shares calculated as

above is compared with the number of shares that would have

been issued assuming the exercise of the warrants

Basic

2009

WI
2008

85 81 88 Al
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31 March 2009

16 9JAI 16 EARNINGS PER SHARE continued

Diluted continued

Profit attributable to equity holders of the

Company HK$ooo

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in

issue 000
Adjustments for warrants 000

7115

303895

6891

299149

5688

EWiui

ljIjPj3

Beginning of the year

Exchange differences

Disposal of subsidiaries

Diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 March 2009 is

the same as the basic earnings per share as the exercise of the

outstanding warrants would be anti-dilutive

28355

5495
25235

3359

239

End of the year 22860 28355

Accumulated impairment losses

As at April and 31 March

Net book amount

156

22704

156

28199

Impairment tests for goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to the Groups cash-generating units identified

according to the country/place of operation and business segment As

at 31 March 2008 and 2009 all the goodwill is allocated to the PC and

Digital Products segment in Canada

For the purposes of impairment reviews the recoverable amount of

goodwill is determined based on value-in-use calculations These

calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets

approved by management for the purposes of impairment reviews

covering five-year period Cash flows beyond the five years period are

extrapolated according to zero-growth assumption

2009 2008

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for

17

diluted earnings per share 000 303895 304837

Diluted earnings per share HK cents per share 2.34 2.26

17 GOODWILL

Cost

2009

HK$OOO

2008

HK$ 000

86
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31 March 2009

17 17 GOODWILL continued

The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations are as follows

Canada

operations

Gross margin 8.8%

i$c Growth rate 0% to 10%

Discount rate 8.6%

IIjJt l0d0

lt
fdtj

18

The budgeted gross margins were determined by management based

on past performance and its expectation for market development

The growth rates used are largely consistent and do not exceed the

industry growth forecast The annual discount rates are before tax

and reflect market assessments of the time value and the specific

risks relating to the relevant segment Management has considered

the above assumptions and valuation and has also taken into account

the business expansion plan going forward Management believes

that any reasonably foreseeable change in any of the above key

assumptions would not cause the carrying amount of goodwill to

exceed the recoverable amount Judgment is required to determine key

assumptions adopted in the cash flow projections and the changes to

key assumptions can significantly affect these cash flow projections

18 PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Group

Leasehold

improvements

furniture

Plant and fixtures and

Buildings machinery equipment

HK$000 HK$000 HK$000

APL At April 2008

it Cost 119948 131321 42070 6032 17583 316954

Ntlj0d Accumulated depreciation

and impairment 13030 75697 22015 4225 7443 122410

Net book amount 106918 55624 20055 1807 10140 194544

Hi
Moulds and Construction

Motor vehicles tooling in-progress Total

HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000

87 11 001 100 001 00 00
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31 March 2009

18 18 PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
continued

Group continued

Leasehold

improvements

furniture

Plant and fixtures and Moulds and Construction-

Buildings machinery equipment Motor vehicles tooling in-progress Total

HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000

AE-----9 Year ended 31 March

2009

Opening
net book amount 106918 55624 20055 1807 10140 194544

Eochange differences 101 39 152 213

Additions 6168 11268 3663 200 3453 24752

Disposals 2623 21 373 3018

Depreciation 2685 9372 2558 494 2172 17281

Closing net book amount 107677 57538 20635 1513 11421 198784

At31 March2009

Cost 122622 142479 44955 6095 21036 337187

Accumulated depreciation

and impairment 14945 84941 24320 4582 9615 138403

Net book amount 107677 57538 20635 1513 11421 198784L9 Atl April2007

Cost 75457 129857 39270 6216 17325 22647 290772

Accumulated depreciation

and impairment 11534 70704 20447 4036 5890 112619

Net book amount 63923 59153 18823 2180 11427 22647 178153

AEE9 Year ended 31 March

2008

Opening net book amount 63923 59153 18823 2180 11427 22647 178153

Eochange ditterences 248 218 152 51 72 741

Additions 2003 11955 4454 215 3508 20868 43003

Transferred from

construction-in-progress 43515 43515

Disposals 208 151 155 519

Disposal of subsidiaries 864 6108 495 103 247 9717

Depreciation 1699 9589 2728 381 2720 17117

Closing net book amount 106918 55624 20055 1807 1040 194544

At31 March2008

Cost 119948 131321 42070 6032 17583 316954

Accumulated depreciation

and impairment 13030 75697 22015 4225 7443 122410

Net book amount 106918 55624 20055 1807 lOt 40 194544

Ekn0 0Ji7Ao50 88
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31 March 2009

18 PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
continued

Net book value of the buildings is analysed as follows

In Hong Kong held on

Leases of between 10 to 50 years 3585

10-50

500i

8141000A
7651000 iB 9140000

9466000l

1834000

Outside Hong Kong held on

Leases of between 10 to 50 years

Leases of over 50 years

103137

955

99647

1084

107677 106918

Depreciation expense of HK$8141000 2008 HK$7651000 has been

charged in the cost of sales and HK$9140000 2008 HK$9466000

has been included in general and administrative expenses At 31 March

2009 the Group had plant and machinery with net book value of

approximately HK$1559000 2008 HK$1834000 held under finance

leases

18

ft

10-50 fikj

Group

WWii
2009

7l
HK$OOO

2008

HK$OOO

6187

89 P81 811 181 19 19 19 19 81
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31 March 2009

19 19 LEASEHOLD LAND AND LAND USE RIGHTS

The Groups interests in leasehold land and land use rights represent

prepaid operating lease payments and their net book amounts are

analysed as follows

Group

2009 2008

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Opening net book amount 25208 25376

Exchange differences 20 23

Additions 544

fi Amortisation 595 649

Disposals 3321 86

Closing net book amount 21312 25208

Cost 31473 40824

Accumulated amortisation 10161 15616

Net book amount 21312 25208

Geographical analysis

In Hong Kong held on

i0-500i Leases of between 10 to 50 years 4571 7865

Outside Hong Kong held on

10-502J Leases of between 10 to 50 years 16546 17145

501U0 Leases of over 50 years 195 198

21312 25208

Amortisation of prepaid operating lease payments has been included in

general and administrative expenses

20 20 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Company

2009 2008

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Unlisted shares at cost 44723 44715

Less Accumulated impairment losses 10677

44723 34038

71.1 77 47i 90

Daiwa Associato Holdings Limjted
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31 March 2009

20 Jt6$I 20 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES continued

Particulars of significant subsidiaries are as follows

k0ft

Place of
Percentage

incorporation/ Principal place Issued and fully of equity

Company establishment of operation paid up
share capital interest held Type of

legal entity Principal activities

Interests held directly

Daiwa BVI Limited 10000 100% %JSdL%

British Virgin Islands British
Virgin

Islands US$10000 Limited
liability company Investment holdings

t000 100% f0t%
Daiwa Distribution Holdings Limited British

Virgin Islands British Virgin Islands US$1000 Limited
liability company

Investment
holdings

Interests held indirectly

2t 100% 1fdL%
Chiasso Inc British Virgin Islands Mainland China US$2 Limited

liability company Sub-contract manufacturing

100% fUL%
Daiwa Associate Ltd British

Virgin
Islands

Hang Kong US$2 Limited
liability company

Investment holdings

Elite Century Holdings Ltd 2500000tt 100% $If01

British Virgin Islands Hong Kong US$2500000 Limited
liability company Investment holdings

10000 100%

Cosmos Power Holdings Ltd
Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10000 Limited

liability company Investment holdings

2tt 100%

Cypress Distribution Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$2 Limited
liability company

Manufacture of consumer

electronics

2tt 100%

Cypress Electronics Limited
Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$2 Limited

liability company Manutacture at consumer

electronics

1000000% 100%

Daiwa Acoustic Products Hung Kong Hong Kong HK$1000000 Limited
liability company Manufacturing and trading at

Manufacturing Limited
acoustic products

2tP 100% %fd1
Daiwa Associate China Laded Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$2 Limited

liability company Property holdings

91 f9 tK9 1% liU 09 09 99 09
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31 March 2009

20 20 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES continued

Place of Percentage

incorporation/ Principal place Issued and fully of equity

Company establishment of operation paid up
share capital interest held Type of legal entity Principal

activities

Interests held indirectly continued

100%

Daiwa Associate H.K Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares Limited liability company Management and

HK$100 administrative service

300O00OL

Non-voting deferred

shares

HK$3000000

note i$

5000000iL 100%

Daiwa Distribution Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$5000000 Limited
liability company

Distribution of electronic

components

10000t 100% U%
Daiwa Digital Limited Hung Kong Hong Kong HK$10000 Limited

liability company Distributivn of electronic

components

10000 100% li%
Daiwa Electronic Ltd Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10000 Limited

liability company Investment holdings

I1 5000Tc 100% %L
Daiwa Industrial Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$5000 Limited

liability company Investment holdings

100000MOP 100% j1%
Daiwa Manufacturing Macau Commercial Macau Macau MOP$1 00000 Limited

liability company
Manufacture of electronic

Offshore Company
Limited components and

consumer products

4$L 100% 1fO
Daiwa Manufacturing

Limited Hung Kong Hong Kong HK$4 Limited
liability company

Manufacture of electronic

components and

manufacturing services of

electronic products

vj 92
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20 iL1 20 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES continued

Place of E1i8 Percentage

incorporationl Principal place Issued and fully of equity

Company establishment of operation paid up share capital interest held Type of legal entity Principal
activities

Interests held indirectly continued

tOO%L 100% %l%
Daiwa Maxiworld Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100 Limited

liability company Distribution of electronic

components

tOO05L 100% %%
Daiwa Interconnect Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong
HK$1000 Limited

liability company Distribution of electronic

components

100005t tOO% %%%
Daiwa Precision Industrial Ltd Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10000 Limited

liability company Procurement ot materials

5oo0iht 100% .hh0i

Daiwa Resources Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$5000 Limited
liability company

Investment holdings

100%

Daiwa System Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$4 Limited
liability company Trading at computer

components

4% 100% %lihh0i

Daiwa Trading Guangdong Ltd Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$4 Limited
liability company

Investment
holdings

4833333 70% %% %ll$

Daiwa Vuen Kwong Plastic Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$4383333 Limited
liability company

Investment holdings

Manutacturing Ltd

lmtecComponentsLtd 10000$ 100% %HSd1

Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10000 Limited
liability company

Investment holdings

8ooooo$ 100% %%
Maxiworld Micrntech Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$800000 Limited

liability company Distribution at electronic

components

20000002L 05% %$libi%

Unity
Electrical Industrial Ltd

Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$2000000 Limited
liability company

Manutacture at electric wire

2ht 100% %J%
Unity Precision Electrical Ltd Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$2 Limited

liability company Trading and manufacture of

electric wire

100 100% %Jf%
Vastpoint lmtec Electronics Ltd Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100 Limited

liability company Distributional electronic

components

100% %fl%
Beijing

Daiwa Vastpoint Electronics Mainland China Mainland China 800000 ..k%$0
Wholly toreign-owned

Distribution of electronic

Technology Ltd Registered and enterprise components

paid up capital

RMB800000

93 WI dv WI WI 33
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20 itL4 20 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES continued

/B8il
Place of Percentage

incorporationl Principal place Issued and fully of equity

Company establishment of operation paid up share capital interest held Type of legal entity Principal activities

ii

Interests held indirectly continued

100% 3lJJ$%
China Faith Electronics Heyuan Ltd Mainland China Mainland China 1200000% Wholly foreign-owned Manufacture of consumer

Registered and enterprise electronics

paid up capital

US$1200000

100%

Dongguan Cosmos Electronics Ltd Mainland China Mainland China 20000001L Wholly foreign-owned Contract electronic

Registered and enterprise manufacture seruice

paid up capital

RMB2000000

U7200000 100%

Daiwa Component Shanghai Ltd Mainland China Mainland China
Wholly foreign-owned

Distribution of electronic

Registered and paid up enterprise components

capital US$200000

100% L0
Daiwa Component Shenahen Ltd Mainland China Mainland China 2000000 Wholly foreign-owned Distribution of electronic

Registered and enterprise components

paid up capital

HK$2000000

100% 30i
Daiwa Electronics Heyuan Co Ltd Mainland China Mainland China 3600000iL Wholly foreign-owned

Registered and enterprise Contract electronic

paid up capital manufacture seruice

US$3000000 and manufacture of

consumer electronics

70% $I5 SJ$$
Daiwa Vuen Kwong Industrial Heyuan Mainland China Mainland China 8695450 Wholly foreign-owned

Manufacture of plastic

Ltd Registered
and enterprise parts

paid up capital

US$1186954

oUI8l 100% $0
Daiwa Zhauqing Electronics Industrial Mainland China Mainland China 3384000% Wholly foreign-owned

Manufacture of electronic

Limited Registered
and enterprise components

paid up capital

US$3384000

$Sft71712000 100%

Dongguan Water Semi-Conductor Mainland China Mainland China 59859513 Wholly foreign-owned Manufacture of electronic

Co Ltd enterprise components

Registered capital

HK$71712000

paid up capital

HK$59858513

%7 94
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20 20 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES continued

$ft
Place of Percentage

incorporation/ Principal place Issued and fully of equity

Company establishment of
operation paid up

share
capital

interest held Type of
legal entity Principal activities

Interests held indirectly continued

tJI$22O5O000$ 100% ll%
Unity Industrial Heyuan Ltd Mainland China Mainland China 1749964 Wholly foreign-owned Manufacture of electric wire

enterprise

Registered capital

HK$2050000

Paid
ap capital

us$1749964

100% $%
Unity Precision Dongguan Electrical Mainland China Mainland China 477000 Wholly foreign-owned Manufacture of electric wire

Ltd
Registered and enterprise

paid up capital

HK$f 477000

100%

Vastpoint lmtec Electronics SZ Ltd Mainland China Mainland China 2000000t Wholly foreign-owned Distribution of electronic

Registered and enterprise components

paid up capital

HK$2000000

B$1r500000 100% $Ffl%%
Yun Pu Daiwa Electronic Ltd Mainland China Mainland China

Wholly foreign-owned
Distribution of electronic

Registerud and enterprise components

paid up capital

RMB500000

$Sft%Bt935o00 100% $llui%
Yun Fu China Faith Limited Mainland China Mainland China

Wholly foreign-owned Manufacture and trading of

Registered and paid up enterprise electronic components

capital US$935000

Daiwa Distribution Alberta Inc 031 f20$LfL t00% if5i
Alberta Canada Canada CAD12O Limited

liability company

Sales and distribution of

computer goods and

electronic goods

Daiwa Distribution S.C Inc 300000c 100% 1%%
British Columbia Canada Canada CAD300000 Limited

liability company

Sales and distribution at

computer goods and

electronic goods

DaiwaDistributionNcuaScotialnc i00$ffL 00% %Et%
Nova Scotia Canada Canada CAD100 Limited

liability company

Sales and distribution of

computer goods and

electronic goods

95 Hi lW
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31 March 2009

20 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES continued

100%

Limited
liability company

100% $Jff%

Limited
liability company

aD
am

Sales and distribution ot

computer goods and

electronic goods

Investment holdings

100%

Limited
liability company

Sales and distribation of

computer goods
and

electronic goods

The above list includes the subsidiaries of the Company which in the

opinion of the Companys directors and the Groups management

principally contributed the results or formed substantial portion of the

net assets of the Group To give details of other subsidiaries would result

in particulars of excessive length

The non-voting deferred shares have no voting rights are not

entitled to any distributions upon winding up unless sum of

HK$100000000000000 has been distributed to the holders of ordinary

shares

Ci None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at any time during

the year ended 31 March 2009

20

Wy

Company

Place of

incorporation

establishment

hSEWft

Percentage

of equity Uit
interest held

Type
of

legal entity Principal activities

Daiwa Distribution Ontario Inc

Daiwa Holdings Inc

Daiwa Precision Industrial Ltd

Daiwa Semitron Supplies Canada Inc

Westpac Holdings Inc

West pac Technology Inc

Principal place

of
operation

Canada

Canada

Canada

Canada

Canada

Canada

Issued and fully

paid up
share

capital

700000U5t

CAD700000

223015c

CAD2230t5

Lft

CAD1

CAD1

GAOl

%L

GAOl

Ontario Canada

Ontario Canada

Ontario Canada

Ont aria Canada

Oct aria Canada

Ontario Canada

100% li%
Limited

liability company Investment holdings

100%

Limited
liability company

100% %Sh%
Limited

liability company

Notes

Property holdings

Invest ment holdings

i1I
ifOl

IffO 31 96
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21 JIfl 21 INTEREST IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITY

Group

JL
2009 2008

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Net book amount

The Group has interests in the following jointly controlled entity which is

established in the Mainland China

Nature Principal Ownership Voting Profit/loss

Name of entity activities interest power sharing

60% 60% 60%

5mb-Foreign Inactive

Daiwa Southern Precision cooperative

Industrial Limited joint venture

97
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31 March 2009

22 22 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATED COMPANY

Group

2009 2008

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Beginning of the year

Addition 2519

Share of loss 2519

End of the year

Details of the associated company which is limited liability company

established and operating in Japan are as follows

Issued and Percentage

fully paid of equity

Name up capital interest held Principal activity

23400000 47% 111
Daiwa Sound Company Limited YEN23400000 Trading and manufacturing of loudspeaker

DSC elements and components

98
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23 23 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

Group

2009 2008

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Beginning of the year 319 4340

Exchange differences 695

Revaluation deficit charged to equity 151 61

Disposal of subsidiaries Note 37c 4655

End oftheyear 168 319

Available for sale financial assets include the following

Group

2009 2008

HK$ 000 HK$ 000

Listed securities

Equity securities Hong Kong denominated in

Hong Kong dollar 168 319

Market value of listed securities 168 319

99
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31 March 2009

24 24 INVENTORIES

Group

2009 2008

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Trading merchandise 93959 124048

Raw materials 69913 82495

Work-in-progress 20271 18205

Finished goods 21161 13826

205304 238574

The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and included in

2S 389393000 cost of sales in the income statement amounted to approximately

17135180005L HK$1389393000 2008 HK$1713518000

II 6518000 Write-down of inventories amounted to HK$6518000 2008

62200005t HK$6220000 which have been included in cost of sales in the

income statement

25 25 TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES

GroupiL
2009 2008

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Trade receivables 130714 162349

Less provision for impairment 2745 1973

127969 160376

Notes receivable 11663 25213

139632 185589

14 14 lit 14 14 14 14 100
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25 25 TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES continued

Notes

The carrying amount of the Groups trade receivables are denominated

in the following currencies

Group

çii
2009 2008

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Hong Kong dollar 51974 55412

Chinese Renminbi 29565 41429

United States dollar 30039 38400

Canadian dollar 19136 27108

130714 162349

The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate their fair values

There is no concentration of credit risk with respect to trade receivables

T8it as there are large number of widely dispersed customers

Majority of the Groups sales are made on open account with credit

terms generally ranging from 30 days to 90 days The ageing analysis of

trade receivables is as follows

Group

2009 2008

72
HK$OOO HK$000

Less than 60 days 100969 107794

60 days to 120 days 18043 40042

Over 120 days 11702 14513

130714 162349

7U
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31 March 2009

25 6N
0k1A

4920200O tP

64339000E

2745O00 1973000

27450O0A
19730007t

25 TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES continued

Notes continued

The carrying amount of the Groups trade receivables are denominated

in the following currencies continued

At 31 March 2009 trade receivables approximately of HK$49202000

2008 HK$64339000 were past due but not considered to be impaired

because these mainly relate to number of independent customers for

whom there is no recent history of default The ageing analysis of these

trade receivables is as follows

Group

2009

HK$OOO

49202 64339

The credit quality of trade receivables neither past due nor impaired

has been assessed by reference to historical information about the

counterparty default rates The existing counterparties do not have

significant defaults in the past

At 31 March 2009 trade receivables of approximately HK$2745000

2008 HK$1973000 were impaired The amount of the provision

was HK$2745000 as of 31 March 2009 2008 HK$1973000 The

individually impaired receivables mainly relate to customers which are in

unexpected difficult economic situations The ageing of these receivables

is as follows

j3 hi 102

Daiwa Associate Holdngs Limted

Over 120 days 2745 1973

Less than 60 days

60 days to 120 days

Over 120 days

2008

HK$000

30660

21139

12540

30312

9933

8957

Group

2009

HK$OOO

2008

HK$000
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31 March 2009

25 25 TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES continued

IW Al

At April

Notes continued

Provision of trade receivable impairment

Receivables written off during the year as

uncollectable

At 31 March

Group

2009

HK$OOO

2008

HK$000

I120A
120

The carrying amounts of notes receivable approximate their fair values

due to their short maturity As at 31 March 2009 all the notes receivable

represent bank acceptance notes issued by third
parties

with average

maturity of within 120 days 2008 120 days and are denominated in

RMB

1T2\

J8l

The carrying amount of the Groups trade receivables are denominated

in the following currencies continued

Movement on the provision for trade receivables is as follows

1973 1612

2409 1698

1637 1337

2745 1973

Notes receivable

103
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26 tjkI 26 PREPAYMENTS DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

38680O0

5i

104

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited

cii
2009 2008

7yr
HK$OOO HK$OOO

114 174

114 174

Included in other receivables of the Group as at 31 March 2009 was loan

due from an independent third party company of HK$3868000 2008
HK$3868000 which is unsecured and interest free Pursuant to the original

loan agreement entered into with the third party in September 2007 the loan is

repayable on 23 September 2008 whereby the Group may at any time before

that convert the amount into 10% equity interest in the third party During the

year the Group continued to explore on exercising the convertible option and

supplementary agreement was subsequently signed by both parties on 18 May

2009 to extend the maturity date of the loan and the conversion period to 31

August 2009 with other terms remain unchanged The directors are of the opinion

that the fair value of the convertible option at both the inception date and as at

year end is minimal and expect that the amount to be fully recoverable upon

maturity

Group Company

2009

HK$OOO

Prepayments 6816 6020

Rental deposits 927 659

Other receivables note 9142 8668

16885 15347

2008

HK$OOO

Note



ij

103388

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank

deposit rates The Groups cash and bank balance denominated in

RMB are deposited with banks in the Mainland China The conversion

of these RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies and the

remittance of funds out of Mainland China is subject to the rules and

regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the Government

of the Peoples Republic of China

105 11 Jt 51
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27 27 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank

Cash on hand

Group

31 March 2009

2008

HK$OOO

32

32

Company

2009

HK$OOO

ii
2009

HK$OOO

121957

2599

124556

tW
2008

HK$OOO

101654

1734

103388

599

599

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies

Hong Kong dollar

Chinese Renminbi

United States dollar

Canadian dollar

Others

Group

2009

71
HK$OOO

Company

2009

HK$OOO

2008

HK$OOO

35719

11817

47890

7774

2008

HK$OOO

3233027 599

15396

71522

4566

45 188

124556 599 32



Notes to the Financial Statements

31 March 2009

28 28 BORROWINGS

Group

2009 2008

HK$OOO HK$ 000

Non-current

Bank borrowings 69541 68668

Less current portion of non-current

bank borrowings 35488 24391

Finance lease liabilities note iv 1069

34053 45346

Current

Short-term bank borrowings 16000 11000

Current portion of non-current bank borrowings 35488 24391

Trust receipts bank loans 109222 136771

Finance lease liabilities note iv 1078 1405

161788 173567

Total borrowings 195841 218913

Notes

The maturity of the borrowings is as follows

Group

2009 2008

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Within year 161788 173567

Between and years 34053 28846

Between and years 16500

195841 218913

Fffhi 106
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7f Notes to the Financia Statements

31 March 2009

28 fJ 28 BORROWINGS continued

4I Notes continued

ii ii The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in the

following currencies

Group

2009 2008

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Hong Kong dollar 195483 218486

United States dollar 358 427

195841 218913

iii iii The exposure of the Groups borrowings to interest rate changes

and the weighted average effective interest rates at the balance

sheet date are as follows

Group

2009 2008

HK$OOO HK$OOO

at floating rates 195841 218913

2009 2008

HK$ US$ HK$ US$

Trust receipt bank loans 3.37% 2.20% 4.84% 3.93%

Bank borrowings 3.44% 4.66%

Finance lease liabilities 2.89% 2.96%

All borrowings are unsecured and the carrying amounts

approximate their fair values

107 ut lit it Ti 17
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Notes to the Hnancia Statements

31 March 2009

28 28 BORROWINGS continued

Notes continued

iv iv The Groups finance lease obligations were analysed as follows

Group

wj1
2009 2008

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Total minimum lease payments

Within one year 1083 1449

In the second year 1081

1083 2530

Less Future finance charges 56

1078 2474

The present value of finance lease liabilities is analysed as

follows

2009 2008

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Within one year 1078 1405

In the second year 1069

1078 2474

108
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Notes to the Financial Statements

31 March 2009

29 29 TRADE PAYABLES

Payment terms with majority of the suppliers are on open account

Certain suppliers grant credit period ranging from 30 to 60 days

The ageing analysis of trade payables is as follows

Group

2009 2008

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Less than 60 days 130830 141349

60 days to 120 days 6084 14631

Over 120 days 1912 5091

138826 161071

Trade payables are denominated in the following currencies

Group

2009 2008

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Hong Kong dollar 13 464 29 026

Chinese Renminbi 11 600 12 689

United States dollar 87873 85414

Canadian dollar 22590 33216

Japanese Yen 3299 726

138826 161071

109 Pt Pt Pt Pt
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Notes to the Hnandal Statements

2009

HK$OOO

2008

HK$OOO

ii
2009

HK$OOO

31 March 2009

jI
Accrual for salaries and bonuses

Receipts in advance

Accrued operating expenses

Construction fee payable

Other payables

20083 28272 428 420

31

658770005TLWA 399048000

32

31 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

As at 31 March 2009 the Group had outstanding forward foreign

currency contracts to sell/purchase United State dollar and Chinese

Renminbi The notional principal amounts of the outstanding forward

foreign exchange contracts at 31 March 2009 were approximately

HK$65877000 2008 HK$399048000

32 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

MM
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is

legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax

liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal

authority The balances shown in the consolidated balance sheet are

after appropriate offsetting as follows

Deferred income tax assets to be recovered after

more than 12 months 172

Deferred income tax liabilities to be settled after

more than 12 months 3347 5480

uiI Net deferred income tax liabilities 3175 4094

30 30 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

Group Company

2008

HK$OOO

9254

1981

4726

3594

528

10544

1491

8314

7465

458

428 420

Group

2009

HK$OOO

2008

HK$OOO

1386

110
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Notes to the Financial Statements

31 March 2009

32 32 DEFERRED INCOME TAX continued

The movement on deferred income tax account is as foliow

Group

2009 2008

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Beginning of the year 094 314

creciited/charged to the income statement Note 11 919 378

Disposal of subsidiaries Note 37c 598

End of the year 175 094

The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities prior to offsetting of

balances within the same taxation jurisdiction is as follows

Deferred tax assets Tax lossesii
2009 2008

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Beginning of the year 1541 1150

Charged/credited to the income statement 829 391

End of the year 712 541

111
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Notes to the Financial Statements

AtlApril

Credited/charged to the income

statement

Disposal of subsidiaries Note 37c

At31 March

Th$i
7712O006

31772000

0434380O0 43060O0

32 DEFERRED INCOME TAX continued

Accelerated tax

Withholding tax depreciation Total

zji ZLtL

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

q7 c7 fy
HK$OOO HK$000 HK$OOO HK$000 HK$OOO HK$000

5635 5464 5635 5464

196 1944 769 1748 769

598 598

196 3691 5635 3887 5635

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-forward

to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through

the future taxable profits is probable The Group did not recognise

deferred income tax assets of approximately HK$11601000 2008

HK$7712000 in respect of accumulated losses amounting to

approximately HK$47744000 2008 HK$31772000 that can be

carried forward against future taxable income As at 31 March 2009

accumulated tax loss amounting to approximately HK$43438000 is

expiring in 2011 to 2015 while the remaining balance of approximately

HK$4306000 can be carried forward indefinitely to offset against

future taxable income

32

31 March 2009

Deferred tax liabilities

lOt 00 00 00 00

Daiwa Assccte HoFdings Limited
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31 March 2009

33

IWIi
151 J5 flfÆO

33 SHARE CAPITAL

Issued and fully paid-

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

Beginning of the year

Issue of shares upon exercise of

warrants note

Purchase of own shares note ii

End of the year

26274436f$8tE
26274436 $919J5 f1$J 11764000

ii $HiIJ15586000A
184000

114260

Date of repurchase

During the year ended 31 March 2009 no warrants were utilised to

subscribe for the shares of the Company During the year ended 31

March 2008 total of 26274436 warrants were utilised to subscribe

for 26274436 shares in the Company at an aggregate consideration of

HK$11764000

ii During the year ended 31 March 2009 the Company repurchased

586000 shares 2008 184000 for HK$230010 2008 HK$114260
These shares were subsequently cancelled

Number of

shares

000

Price per share

HK$ HK$

586

2009

o.io

2008

Authorised

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

Number of Nominal Number of Nominal

shares value shares value

Ik
000 HK$OOO 000 HK$OOO

1000000 100000 1000000 100000

304230 30423 278140 27814

26274 2627

586 59 184 18

303644 30364 304230 30423

Notes

repurchased Lowest Highest

August 2008 438 0.375 0.450

October 2008 78 0.325 0.330

December 2008 20 0.250 0.275

January 2009 50 0.240 0.260

113 fi.l 51 51 51 51 51
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Notes to the Financial Statements

31 March 2009

34 EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTIONS

i5tH
iii

The Company has an employee share option scheme under which

it may grant options to employees including executive directors of

the Company to subscribe for shares in the Company subject to

maximum of 30% of the nominal value of the issued share capital of

the Company from time to time excluding for this purpose any shares

issued upon exercise of employee share options The exercise price

will be determined by the Companys Board of Directors and shall at

least be the highest of the closing price of the Companys shares

on the date of grant of the options ii an average closing price of the

Companys shares for the five days immediately preceding the date of

grant of the options and the nominal value of the Companys shares

of HK$0.10 each

1E

23 January 2007 23 January 2007 to 22 January 2012

4l 43LAfE ih
26274436 $$ fk9 $1

11764000J

No share options were granted or exercised during the year ended 31

March 2009 2008 Nil and no share options were outstanding as at 31

March 2009 2008 Nil

HK$0.40 12313089 12313089

During the year no warrants were utilised to subscribe for the shares of

the Company During the year end 31 March 2008 total of 26274436

warrants were utilised to subscribe for 26274436 shares in the

Company at an aggregate consideration of HK$11764000

114
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Notes to the RnancaI Statements

31 March 2009

36 36 RESERVES

Group

Ift

tw
Available-

for-sale

financial

Capital fl 5ii assets

Share Capital redemption Exchange Statutory revaluation Retained

premium reserve reserve reserve reserve ii reserve profits Total

HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000

M05D As April 2008 215121 41201 1164 9790 90 508 99466 357340

Profit for the
year

7115 7115

Exchange translation

8729 8729

Purchase of own shares 171 230 230 171

Transfer

331 331

Revaluation deficits

on available-fur-sale

tinancial assets

151 151

Dividends Note 15
1672 1672

At 31 March 2009

214950 4f201 1394 1061 90 26 95010 353732

Representing

Proposed dividend

1518

Others
93492

95010

115 Nf.i 301 401301 001 31
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36 RESERVES continued

Group continued

Available-

for-sale

Representing

Proposed dividend

Others

Notes

761

08705

89466

Nt
1YL 0380

8$$51 594000

ii

l$51

Capital reserve of the Group represents the difference between

the nominal amount of the share capital issued by ehe Company

and the nominal amoune of the share capieal of fhe subsidiaries

eransferred to the Company pursuant to group reorganisaeion

in 1994 plus the credit of HK$51594000 from share capieal

as result of reduceion of ehe Companys share capital took

place during the year ended 31 March 2000

ii Statutory reserve of subsidiary in Mainland China can be used

to offset fueure losses or increase in capital of the subsidiary

Note to the Financial Statements

Share

premium

HK$000

31 March 2009

Retained

prof its Total

HK$000 HK$000

90284 342435

6891 6891

7186

9137

$Ui Capital

Capital redemption

reserve reserve

HK$000 HK$000

Exchange

reserve

HK$000

financial

assets

revaluation

reserve

HK$000

1046

Statutory

reserve ii

HK$000

90

9137

96

As April 2007 206080 41201

$$ij Profit for the year

Exchange translations

fit0$$ Issue of shares upon

$8 exercise of warrants

Purchase of own shares

Revaluation surplus

$$ on available-for-sale

financial assets

Disposal of subsidiades

Dividends Note 15

At31 March2008

1050 2684

786

114 114 96

19 19

80 557 637

7595 7595

EEfl 21521 41201 164 9790 90 508 89466 357340

116
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Proposed dividend

Others

Representing

Proposed dividend

Others

IW Note

Notes to the Financial Statements

1518

18939

20457

31 March 2009

I$3t2IDaiwa BVI Limited

05

551 594000

A5I
5Q51L

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the

difference between the nominal amount of the Companys
shares issued in exchange for the issued ordinary shares of

Daiwa BVI Limited and the value of net assets of its underlying

subsidiaries pursuant to group reorganisation in 1994 plus

the credit of HK$51594000 from share capital as result of

reduction of the Companys share capital took place during the

year ended 31 March 2000

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda contributed

surplus is distributable to shareholders subject to the condition

that the Company cannot declare or pay dividend or make

distribution out of contributed surplus if it is or after the

payment be unable to pay its liabilities as they become due or

ii the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than

the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and

share premium account

36 RESERVES continued

Company

36 1Mi
2Is

15

4jmj
15

flh/15

At April 2008

Profit for the year

Purchase of own shares

Dividends Note 15

At 31 March 2009

Representing

Retained

profits

HK$OOO

11493

10866

230
1672

20457

Share

premium

HK$OOO

215121

171

214950

206080

9137

96

Capital

redemption

reserve

HK$OOO

1164

230

1394

1050

114

Contributed

surplus

HK$OOO

72309

72309

72309

72309

Total

HK$OOO

300087

10866

171

1672

309110

298496

145

9137

96

7595

300087

At
April 2007

Profit for the year

Issue of shares upon exercise

of warrants

Purchase of own shares

Dividends Note 15

At 31 March 2008

215121 1164

19057

145

114

7595

11493

761

10732

11493

117 7l.50P50B5
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7f Ift Notes to the Financial Statements

31 March 2009

37- 37 CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Reconciliation of profit before income

generated from operations

WWL
2009

HK$OOO

tax to cash

2008

HK$ 000

ifIj

iiJl3A

1J

3IM

Profit before income tax

Adjustments for

Interest income

Interest expense

Amortisation of leasehold land and land use

rights

Depreciation of property plant and equipment

Impairment of trade receivables

Write-down of inventories

Gain on disposal of property plant and

equipment and leasehold land and land use

rights

Fair value gain/Ioss on derivative financial

instruments

Changes in working capital

Inventories

Trade and notes receivables and amount due

from an associated company

Prepayments deposits and other receivables

Trade payables

Accruals and other payables

Cash generated from operations 68235 31974

tI In the consolidated cash flow statement proceeds

from disposals of property plant and equipment and

leasehold land and land use rights comprise

Proceeds from disposals of property plant and

equipment and leasehold land and land use

rights

9464 13509

224
8050

595

17281

2409

6518

1526
9985

649

17117

1698

6220

11805 25

6480 2990

25808 50617

26752 15162

44564

1538
23033

4318

45726

9002
47560

3687

2009

HK$OOO

6339

2008

HK$OOO

605Net book amount

Gain on disposal of property plant and

equipment and leasehold land and land use

rights 11805 25

18144 630

118
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Notes to the Financial Statements

31 March 2009

37 ID
DSC5%J1

DSO DSCi
DSCt

37 CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
continued

Disposal of 5% interest in DSC

On February 2008 the Group disposal of 5% interest in DSC

to an independent third party Consequently DSC becomes an

associated company of the Group The net assets of DSC at the

date of disposal wore as follows

HK$ 000

1J Property plant and equipment

Available-for-sale financial assets

Inventories

Trade receivables and other current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Borrowings

Trade payables and other current liabilities

Deferred income tax

Minority interests

Goodwill

9717

4655

27121

24569

17684

11450

67399

598
1831

239

2707

Gain on disposal

Less Interest retained as an associated

company Note 22

Total consideration 192

Satisfied by

Cash 192

DScfr Analysis of the net cash outflow in respect of the disposal

of 5% interest in DSC
Cash consideration

Less Cash and cash equivalents sold

Net cash outflow in respect of the disposal of 5% interest

in DSC 17492

Net assets disposed

/22
2519

192

17684

119 fl IS IS IS IS IS IS
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iE Notes to the Financial Statements

31 March 2009

38 IuI
flT

38 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments

as at the balance sheet date are as follows

Group

Financial assets

iL

fftI2e

/3o

Available-for-sale financial assets

Trade and notes receivables

Amount due from an associated

company

Financial assets included in

prepayment deposits and

other receivables Note 26

Derivative financial instruments

Cash and cash equivalents

Trade payables

Interest-bearing bank borrowings

Finance lease liabilities

Financial liabilities included in accruals

and other payables Note 30

Derivative financial instruments

168

139632 139632

14855 14855

Financial

assets at fair

value through

profit or loss

HK$OOO

2009

Loans and

receivables

2i
HK$OOO

Available-for-

sale

financial

assets

HK$OOO

168

Total

HK$OOO

Financial liabilities

10069 10069

235 235

124556 124556

235 168 289112 289515

Financial

liabilities

at fair

value

HK$OOO

Financial

liabilities

at amortised

cost

HK$OOO

138826

194763

1078

Total

HK$OOO

138826

194763

1078

120
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1tI Notes to the Fnancia Statements

31 March 2009

38 ILw 38 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
continued

Group

Financial assets

Financial

assets at fair

value through

profit or loss

HK$OOO

Available-for-sale financial assets

Trade and notes receivables

Amount due from an associated

company5- 4ijij Financial assets included in

/f/J I26 prepayment deposits and

other receivables Note 26
Cash and cash equivalents

Available-for-

sale

financial

assets

HK$000

2008

Loans and

receivables

HK$OOO

MJifltiI3o

Financial liabilities

Trade payables

Interest-bearing bank borrowings

Finance lease liabilities

Financial liabilities included in

accruals and other payables

Note 30
Derivative financial instruments

Financial

liabilities

at fair

value

72
HK$ 000

6279

6279

319

185589

17637

9327

103388

319 315941

Financial

liabilities

at amortised

cost

HK$ 000

161071

216439

2474

26781

406765

2009

HK$OOO

Total

HK$OOO

319

185589

17637

9327

103388

316260

Total

HK$ 000

161071

216439

2474

26781

6279

413044

2008

HK$OOO

Company

Financial assets loans and receivables

Other receivables 114 174

Cash and cash equivalents 599 32

713 206

121
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Thf Notes to the Financial Statements

31 March 2009

39 39 COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments

As at 31 March 2008 and 2009 the Group and the Company

did not have any significant capital commitments

Operating lease commitments

At 31 March 2009 the future aggregate minimum lease

payments in respect of land and buildings under non cancellable

operating leases were as follows

Group

2009 2008

HK$OOO HK$ 000

Not later than one year 5073 8095

Later than one year and not later than five

years 12011 5899

17084 11994

$2 Generally the Groups operating leases are for terms of one to

five years

The Company did not have any significant commitments at 31

March 2008 and 2009

122
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Notes to the Financial Statements

40 Lk
Leading Trade

Limited China Capital Holdings Investment

Limited kCyber Concept Limited iti
20.02% 24.51%

24.47%4.07%A
4.06%

DSC
EDSCDSC

361 Alden Inc

40 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

As at 31 March 2009 Leading Trade Limited China Capital Holdings

Investment Limited and Cyber Concept Limited owned 20.06% 2008

20.02% 24.51% 2008 24.47% and 4.07% 2008 4.06% of the

Companys shares respectively These companies are under the control

of the Companys directors Mr Lau Tak Wan and Ms Chan Yuen Mel

Pinky who are collectively regarded as the ultimate controlling parties

Parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group or any

member of its key management personnel or their close family members

has the ability directly or indirectly to exercise significant influence over

the parties in making financial and operating decisions or vice versa

or where the Group and the parties are subject to common significant

influence Related parties may be individuals or entities

The following is summary of significant related party transactions

entered into in the ordinary course of business between the Group

and its related parties and the balances arising from related party

transactions in addition to the related party information shown

elsewhere in the financial statements

Transactions with related parties

Sales to DSC as an associated company

Purchases from DSC as an associated company

Goods return to DSC as an associated

company

Operating lease rental paid to 361 Alden Inc

DSl3l
ii 361 Alden

Transactions with DSC are made based on mutually agreed

terms

iii 361 Alden Inc is beneficially owned by Mr Lau Tak Wan and

Ms Chan Yuen Mel Pinky directors of the Company Operating

lease rental expense is determined at rate mutually agreed

between the parties

31 March 2009

Group

2009

HK$OOONote

2008

HK$OOO

10070 2085

4570 1439

9241

ii 1281 1319

Notes
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Notes to the Financial Statements

31 March 2009

40 Aj4 40 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS continuedIA Balances with related parties

Company

2009 2008

Note HK$OOO HK$OOO

Amounts due from subsidiaries 294442 296631

Group

2009 2008

HK$OOO HK$OOO

f13DSCJ Amount due from DSC ii 14855 17637

Notes

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured and non

interesting bearing and are repayable on demand All the

amounts are denominated in HK$

124
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Notes to the Financial Statements

31 March 2009

40 kI 40 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTJONS continued

Balances with related parties continued

Notes continued

ii ii The amount due from DSC represents trading transactions with

the associated company which is denominated in US$ The

aging of these receivables are analysed as follows

Less than 60 days

60 days to 120 days

Over 120 days

YL

ri Ajf

14855 17637

As of 31 March 2009 certain of the above receivables were

past due but not considered to be impaired as the associated

company has no history of default The ageing analysis of these

receivables is as follows

ii
2009

HK$OOO

25

4022

3494

7541

2008

HK$000

125
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Group

2009

HK$OOO

3436

3878

7541

2008

77
HK$OOO

7944

9693

Group

Overdue by

Less than 60 days

60 days to 120 days

Over 120 days



Notes to the Financial Statements

31 March 2009

40 40 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS continued

Key management compensation

Group

2009 2008

HK$OOO HK$VOO

Salaries and allowances 7869 7867

Bonuses 1293 83

Pension costs defined contribution plans 344 319

9506 8269

126
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Ii Share Option Information

Hliti SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has in accordance with Chapter 17 of the Rules Governing the

Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange the Listing Rules adopted the

New Share Option Scheme as approved by the Shareholders of the Company

at the Annual General Meeting held on 18 August 2005

summary of the principal terms of the New Share Option Scheme is set out

as below

Purpose

The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives

or rewards to Participants for their contribution to the Group and/or to

enable the Group to recruit and retain high calibre employees and to

attract human resources for the growth of the Group

Who may join

On and subject to the terms of the New Share Option Scheme and

the requirements of the Listing Rules the Board may offer to grant an

Option to any Participant as the Board may in its absolute discretion

select

The basis of eligibility of Participants to the grant of any Options shall

be determined by the directors from time to time on the basis of their

contribution to the development and growth of the Group

Maximum number of Shares

The maximum number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of

all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under

the New Share Option Scheme and any other share option

schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 30%

30% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time

127 Fl
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iii Share Option Information

SHARE OPTION SCHEME continued

U1Ii 10%

$fi1it
k-1i ftL ETJ1Li
II

10%
ith

1Ii

111k fl

11 15 15 IS IS 15 15 128
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Maximum number of Shares continued

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise

of all options excluding for this purpose options which have

lapsed in accordance with the terms of the New Share Option

Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company

to be granted under the New Share Option Scheme and any

other share option scheme of the Group must not in aggregate

exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of approval of

the New Share Option Scheme the General Scheme Limit

The Company may refresh the General Scheme Limit from

time to time by obtaining approval of the shareholders of

the Company in general meeting and the issue of circular

in compliance with Listing Rules to the shareholders of the

Company in connection therewith provided that the total

number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all

options to be granted under the New Share Option Scheme

and any other share option schemes of the Company under

the limit as refreshed must not exceed 10% of the Shares in

issue as at the date of approval of the limit and for the purpose

of calculating the limit as refreshed options previously granted

under the New Share Option Scheme or any other share option

schemes of the Company including those outstanding

cancelled lapsed or exercised in accordance with the New

Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the

Company will not be counted

The Company may issue circular in compliance with

Listing Rules to the shareholders of the Company and seek

separate approval by the shareholders of the Company in

general meeting to grant Options beyond the General Scheme

Limit or if applicable the limit referred to in above to

Grantees specifically identified by the Company before such

approval is sought
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Maximum entitlement of each Participant

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued

upon exercise of the options granted under the New Share Option

Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company including

exercised cancelled or outstanding options to each Participant in

any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital

of the Company at the time the Option is granted to the participant

the Individual Limit Any further grant of options in excess of the

Individual Limit in any 12-month period up to and including the date

of such further grant shall be subject to the issue of circular in

compliance with Listing Rules to the shareholders of the Company and

the shareholders approval in general meeting of the Company with such

Participant and his associates abstaining from voting

Grant of options to connected persons

Any grant of Options under the New Share Option Scheme

to director chief executive or substantial shareholder of the

Company or any of their respective associates as defined in

the Listing Rules must be approved by the independent non-

executive Directors excluding any independent non-executive

Director who is the Grantee of the Options

Where any grant of Options to substantial shareholder or an

independent non-executive Director or any of their respective

associates as defined in the Listing Rules would result in the

Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options

already granted and to be granted including options exercised

cancelled and outstanding to such person under the New Share

Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company in the

12-month period up to and including the date of such grant

representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the total number

of Shares in issue and
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having an aggregate value based on the closing price of

the Shares at the date of each grant in excess of HK$5

million

such further grant of options must be approved by the shareholders

of the Company The Company must send circular in compliance

with Listing Rules to the shareholders of the Company All connected

persons of the Company must abstain from voting on the relevant

resolution at such general meeting except that any such connected

person may vote against the relevant resolution at the general meeting

provided that his intention to do so has been stated in the circular Any

vote taken at the meeting to approve the grant of such Options must be

taken on poll

Payment on acceptance of Option offer

consideration of HK$10 is payable on acceptance of the offer of

grant of an Option An offer for the grant of an Option shall be deemed

to have been accepted when the duplicate letter of the offer is duly

completed signed and returned to the Company with payment of

HK$10.00 as consideration within 28 days from the date of offer

Exercise of an Option

An Option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the

New Share Option Scheme at any time during the five-year period

commencing immediately from the date of grant and expiring on the

last day of the five-year period

Unless the Directors otherwise determined and are stated in the offer

of grant of Options to Participant there are no minimum period for

which an option must be held before it can be exercised
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Performance target

Unless the Directors otherwise determined and are stated in the offer of

grant of Options to Participant Participant is not required to achieve

any performance targets before any Options granted under the New

Share Option Scheme can be exercised

Subscription price for Shares

The Subscription Price under the New Share Option Scheme shall be

price determined by the directors and notified to Participant at the

time of the offer of grant and shall not be lower than the highest of

the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock

Exchanges daily quotations sheet on the date of the offer of

grant which must be business day

the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock

Exchanges daily quotations sheet for the five business days

immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant and

the nominal value of the Shares for the time being

10 Ranking of Shares

The Shares to be allotted upon the exercise of an Option will be subject

to all the provisions of the Companys Bye-Laws for the time being in

force and will rank pan passu with the fully paid Shares in issue on the

date of allotment and accordingly will entitle the holders to participate

in all dividends or other distributions paid or made on or after the date

of allotment other than any dividend or other distributions previously

declared or recommended or resolved to be paid or made if the record

date therefor shall be before the date of allotment
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11 Restrictions on the time of grant of options

grant of Options may not be made after price sensitive event

has occurred or price sensitive matter has been the subject of

decision until such price sensitive information has been published in

the newspapers In particular the Board shall not offer the grant of an

Option to any Participant during the period commencing one month

immediately preceding the earlier of the date of the meeting of the

Directors for the approval of the Companys interim or annual results

and ii the last date on which the Company must publish its interim or

annual results announcement under its listing agreement with the Stock

Exchange and ending on the date of the announcement of the results

12 Period of the New Share Option Scheme

The New Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective for period

of years commencing on the date on which the New Share Option

Scheme become unconditional after which no further Options will

be issued and thereafter for so long as there are outstanding any

unexercised Options granted pursuant thereto and in order to give

effect to the exercise of any such Options or otherwise as may be

required in accordance with the provisions of the New Share Option

Scheme

13 The life of the New Share Option Scheme

The New Share Option Scheme will remain in force until 17 August

2010 subject to approval by shareholders to adopt the New Share

Option Scheme at the annual general meeting
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